
STAFFORD COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 
December 19, 2018 

 
The meeting of the Stafford County Planning Commission of Wednesday, December 19, 2018, was 
called to order at 6:30 p.m. by Chairman Crystal Vanuch in the Board of Supervisors Chambers of the 
George L. Gordon, Jr., Government Center. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Crystal Vanuch, Albert Bain, Roy Boswell, Darrell English, Fillmore 

McPherson, Barton Randall  
 
MEMBERS ABSENT: Steven Apicella 
 
STAFF PRESENT: Jeff Harvey, Rysheda McClendon, Stacie Stinnette, Brian Geouge, Susan 

Blackburn,  LeAnn Ennis, Lauren Lucian  
 
DECLARATIONS OF DISQUALIFICATION 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Please let the record state that Commissioner Apicella is absent this evening.  Any 
declarations of disqualification or disclosure by any Commission members?   
 
Mr. English:  Madam Chairman, I did meet with the folks with the Village of Greenbank a couple of 
weeks ago.  
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, any others?   
 
Mr. Bain:  I also met with Chris Hornung of Village of Greenbank. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Any others?  Okay, I'll throw my hat in that ring, too.  I also met with the representatives 
for public hearing item number 1.  Okay, now we're gonna move on to an agenda change I think. 
 
Mr. English:  Yes ma'am.  I'd like to make the attend change please. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Sure, Commissioner English? 
 
Mr. English:  Madam Chairman, I'd like to move items 8 and 9 ahead of Unfinished Business after the 
public hearings. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, so we have a motion on the floor to move items 8 and 9, which are the New 
Business, before the Unfinished Business.   
 
Mr. Boswell:  Second. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, so we have a motion and a second; any discussion?   
 
Mr. English:  No ma'am. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, let's go ahead and vote.  Well, I did vote.  I'm a yes, so that motion carries 6-0 with 
one absent (Mr. Apicella absent).   Okay, now we'll move on to the public presentations portion of 
tonight's meeting.  This is where anybody from the audience can come down and you can speak for 2 
minutes.  When the yellow light comes on you have 1 minute left.  And when the red light starts 
blinking that means your time has concluded.  If you are here to speak about any of the items on the 
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public hearings, which would be the Villages of Greenbank or the Market at Embry Mill, you'll have a 
separate time to be able to discuss those, so we ask that you hold those comments until those public 
hearings.  So, at this time, if anyone would like to come down and talk about anything other than the 
public hearings that we have opened this evening, now is your chance to come down.  Come on -- you 
can come to the podium.  And when you come to the podium, state your name, address, and if you know 
the district that you reside, please state that for the record as well. 
 
PUBLIC PRESENTATIONS 
 
Ms. Foley:  Okay, Carol Foley.  My comment to you is that additional traffic in that area is an absolutely 
horrible idea, not only because of the residents that live there now… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Are you referencing item number 1 on the agenda? 
 
Ms. Foley:  Yes. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So you can have these comments when we hold the public hearing at that time.  This is for 
anything other than what we have a public hearing for. 
 
Ms. Foley:  Oh. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yep. 
 
Ms. Foley:  I'm sorry. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  No, it's okay.  It's the Grinch! 
 
Mr. Waldowski:  I'm the Grinch ma'am, sorry.  Sorry to disappoint you.  Paul Waldowski, the 
gerrymandered Rock Hill District, which will be fixed in 2021.  You know, the Pledge of Allegiance has 
indivisible in it; begins with the word in, just like I keep reiterating the word brain has in at the end.  
Now every year the Grinch brings coal because that's what all of the Planning Commissioners deserve.  
We have a car wash that'll be 1.5 miles away in the commercial corridor.  I really love the rain is coming 
again for Shelton Woods.  You might as well rename it to Shelton Waters.  He's working real hard to try 
to put that road in, but I don't think it's gonna perk.  If you have nothing to do, I usually bring this to the 
School Board, some tick-tack-toe also.  So, the presents are here for you but I'm the Grinch so they'll be 
back next year.  Now let me introduce my two friends, no offense; this is Darryl and my other brother 
Darryl.  This Darryl is on the Planning Commission and this Darryl is on the BZA.  Oh, I'm sorry, I 
didn't see he's not there.  Alright, on the way here I was following a… one of our County resources.  It's 
one of the Sheriff's most precious resources, and there was a driver in it.  Can you believe that?  Animal 
control.  I always love to see the empty ones, you know.  You really scare me; I'm from New York.  
How do you think the guys in NASCAR got so good?  They used to take all four tires, put them on the 
side and say hello.  Alright, now I'm gonna finish with a little story, because I am the Grinch.  You 
know, Santa always goes on a sled and everything, but the Grinch now is 21st century and he's on an 
airplane.  So he was sitting recently next to an atheist.  And the atheist wanted to talk about God and 
other high power aspects.  And so I asked him, I said I'm more than willing to discuss that with you and 
I'm reading my book here about, you know, Texas Hold'em and bad beats, and he says well that's okay.  
It'd be better, the time would go past.  And I said okay sir, I will have a discussion with you only if you 
can answer one question for me.  So the question I posed to him was, I said sir, a deer when he's in the 
woods, you know, he leaves little dropplings and then I've been in the Midwest for 15 years, the cows 
they leave patties.  And I said at Oklahoma State my friends were vets, the horses leave clumps.  And I 
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asked my flying partner, I asked him, sir, do you know why that is?  He says, no, Mr. Grinch.  And I 
said to him, well, sir, if you don't know anything about crap then how are we gonna talk about God?   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Waldowski.  Would anyone else like to come down and speak?  Okay, 
seeing no one rush the podium, we’ll close the public presentations portion of tonight's meeting and 
move on to item number 1, which is the reclassification for the Villages at Greenbank Proffer 
Amendment.  And for this we recognize Mr. Geouge. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
1. RC17152130; Reclassification - The Villages at Greenbank Proffer Amendment - A proposal to 

amend proffered conditions on 441.67 acres identified as Tax Map Parcel Nos. 44W-H and 52-1 
(Property), zoned RBC, Recreational Business Campus Zoning District, to allow for the 
development of 1,177 age-restricted dwelling units.  The Property is located at the southern 
terminus of Celebrate Virginia Parkway, within the Hartwood Election District.  (Time Limit:  
March 29, 2019) 

 
Mr. Geouge:  Good evening Madam Chairman, members of the Commission; Brian Geouge with the 
Planning and Zoning Department.  A lot of this information has been presented previously, so I’ll try to 
be brief.  The request is to amend proffered conditions in the RBC, Recreational Business Campus 
zoning district, for a 1,177 unit retirement housing development on tax map parcel numbers 44W-H and 
52-1, consisting of 441.67 acres.  The applicant is Silver Companies, the agent is Chris Hornung, and the 
owner is Silver Celebrate Virginia Golf.  The property is shown in the red outline here.  It's located at 
the terminus… the southern terminus of Celebrate Virginia Parkway.  A portion of the northern property 
boundary follows this road and Scott’s Ford Lane.  The property is a southern portion of a 1,200 acre 
tract zoned RBC.  The property was included in the original 1,170 acre RBC rezoning initiated by the 
Board of Supervisors and approved in 1999.  There are currently no proffers on this portion of the RBC 
district.  This slide depicts existing conditions.  The property is currently developed with one golf course 
generally on the eastern half of the property.  There's also a cleared area currently being utilized for 
soybean production.  And the remainder to the west is wooded and a lot of this area is occupied by 
conservation easements.  To the east of the property there's an additional parcel owned by the developer, 
shown here.  And the property is also surrounded by conservation easements held by the City of 
Fredericksburg to the southwest and east.  And overall, the overall development and the RBC district is 
also shown here.  The RBC zoning is depicted in the black outline.  Other developments include the Del 
Webb Retirement Community, which consists of 1,100 units; the Battleground Estates Community, 
which is 50 executive housing lots, 278 apartments up at the north end, and one commercial building.  
The RBC district requires a submittal of a preliminary concept plan which establishes land-use pods 
where different types of development are permitted.  The current approved concept plan shown on the 
left here has been revised several times since the district was established.  A concept plan proposed by 
the applicant shown on the right would expand the retirement district shown in purple and the area 
where the existing resort district shown in green is.  And the new concept plan would also add a new 
land-use category referred to as Conservation District, and that's shown in blue.  The zoning ordinance 
allows for up to 30% of a district to be developed with retirement housing.  The current concept plan 
designates nearly 30% of the district as retirement housing.  Therefore, under the proposed plan, an 
ordinance amendment would be required to increase this.  This image depicts a conceptual layout of the 
1,177 unit development.  The project is proposed to be developed into 3 villages shown in the different 
colors here.  In total there are 236 detached, 588 duplex, and 353 townhome units proposed.  A primary 
access road is proposed extending from the current terminus of Celebrate Virginia Parkway through 2 
roundabouts and down to a proposed 66-acre park at the southern end of the development.  One 
additional access point is proposed on Scott's Ford Lane.  And several recreational amenities are 
proposed.  In addition to the 66-acre park there's a clubhouse proposed at the main entrance with indoor 
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and outdoor amenities, a 1-acre park… minimum 1-acre park would be provided within each village and 
that would also include certain amenities, and in addition to the… I'm sorry, there's also a Civil War 
Interpretive Park proposed here on the eastern side of the property.  In addition to the sidewalks 
provided throughout the development, the applicant is proposing 8-foot width shared use paths 
throughout and these would connect the different park sites within the development.  They would extend 
down to the 66-acre park and tie into the existing golf course paths and the golf cart paths.  And they 
would also construct a shared use path along Scott's Ford Lane which would facilitate a pedestrian/bike 
connection to Lake Mooney.  Here's an image of the park concept plan.  The applicant has proffered 
several improvements at this 66-acre park referred to as Greenbank Farm Park.  They would provide a 
40-space paved parking area, an open field or event space, an exhibit shelter and restrooms, a trail 
system incorporating existing paths, and areas for historical interpretation and wildlife observation.  
Currently, it's uncertain if the park would be open for public use.  The applicant has offered to construct 
the park improvements and convey the park to the County; however, Parks and Recreation is currently 
not in a position to take on additional maintenance responsibilities.  The applicant has requested 
ordinance amendments also to allow farm winery uses and agri-tourism uses in this general area.  The 
Comprehensive Plan designates this property within the suburban land use designation with a maximum 
recommended density of 3 units per acre.  The density of the proposed development is roughly 2.7 per 
acre.  Staff notes that the development is consistent with other elements of the Comp Plan, including 
objectives and policies on infill development, open space, parkland, and pedestrian/bicycle connectivity.  
Staff has evaluated how this request will impact the listed public facilities.  Since this request is a proffer 
amendment, the application is not subject to new proffer legislation which limits the County's ability to 
negotiate or accept certain residential proffers.  For the purpose of evaluating monetary contribution, 
staff has used a 2015 proffer guideline, shown in the image here.  These guidelines suggest a total 
contribution of 26,718 per age-restricted unit.  The proposed proffers include $4,608 per unit in 
monetary contributions.  As for Parks and Recreation… 
 
Mr. Bain:  Excuse me Brian. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Has the applicant provided any explanation for that… such a significant difference in the 
proffer and the recommendation? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  They did provide a proffer analysis for schools.  Their position is that this is an age 
restricted community, there won't really be any school children enrolled here, which was a justification 
for the limited proffer… the zero profit amount there.  For parks and recreation they pointed to the on-
site facilities they are providing for Parks and Recreation facilities and for other facilities such as Fire 
and Rescue and libraries they've taken the approach that was put into the 2015 proffer guidelines, and 
they've adjusted that based on a reduced household size of 1.8 residents per unit.  And use that to sort of 
arrive at a new proffer number for those facilities.  As I said for Parks and Recreation there's no 
monitary proffers proposed, in addition to the clubhouse complex and several on-site parks and facilities 
have been proffered.  For schools again no monetary contributions are proposed.  Staff did reach out to 
Stafford County Public Schools and their records show one student currently residing in the Celebrate 
Del Webb retirement development, and one in the Falls Run retirement development.  And the applicant 
is also… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  I am sorry, I have a quick question on that.   If it's age restricted how, are their students 
enrolled?  I think the last time you were here we said there were none. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes, I think there is, certain provisions for short-term stay.  I'm not exactly sure how their 
covenants are written in those developments.  But I know the applicant, in this case, is profiting first 
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operate the development as a age restricted community and also proffer no long-term stay of persons 
under 19.  Under the state… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  What is long term?  A year, two years, four years? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I believe it was 90 days in any given year, they couldn't stay for a period of longer than 90 
days.  The state requirements are a little more lenient, the state requirements only require that 80% of the 
households have at least one person 55 years old or older.  But there is no specific restriction on persons 
under 19.  So these proffers and our own ordinance requirements further restrict the state requirement. 
 
Mr. English:  That is state you said, right? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So we go above and beyond what the state law requires? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes, the way our ordinance is written we are more restrictive than that. 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  For retirement communities.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Go ahead, sorry. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  For transportation, the guidelines suggest 6,903 per unit.  The applicant has proffered 
2,999 per unit, which is equal to that of the impact fees.  The TIA indicates 4,700 vehicles per day 
generated by this proposed development, 282 and the a.m. peak hour, 388 in the PM peak hour.  Several 
intersections are studied as part of this, in addition to intersections along celebrate Virginia Parkway, all 
major intersections along Route 17 between Stafford Lakes Parkway and Sanford Drive were studied.  
And also the… I will note that the Scott’s Ford/Greenbank Road connection as part of this project, will 
be closed for public access, and there will be a gate put there for… to facilitate emergency access. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So, they're closing this egress point, can you expand on that why they're closing it?  
Because, I know when this first… I think the notice was first put up, there was a significant amount of 
resident input on the closing of this road, that a lot of people use it.  Do you know any details on that? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  It's my understanding when this project was first being developed, that connection wasn't 
meant to stay there in the long term.  Once the development progressed, the amount of vehicles 
generated by it would overburden those roads without significant upgrades.  So, with this, I believe the 
intent was to avoid additional impacts to those roads… unimproved roads and close it off.  So you 
would still have the option of a secondary emergency access which Fire and Rescue would obviously 
want, but then you'd focus all traffic for Celebrate Virginia North on the Celebrate Virginia Parkway, 
which is built to accommodate that traffic volume. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Brian, can you show me where that is on the map? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Sure.  The connection is circled here, so currently it's… currently traffic from this 
development can access the property through Greenbank Road which extends up to here and then down 
Sanford Drive which continues up almost to the interchange location 95 and 17. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  And is this gonna close if this project moves forward or not? 
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Mr. Geouge:  I expect it will at some point because I don't think VDOT will allow them to develop 
much more out there without doing something to that road and that's one of the options of addressing 
that, just closing it off for access. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Instead of improving it? 
 
Mr. English:  But the developer could improve it to keep it open, correct? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I suppose, but again it could be… I guess there's some pushback from residents and 
Celebrate Virginia North for closing it.  But there might be… very well be some pushback from 
residents along Greenbank and Sanford Drive from improving it and having more traffic flow through. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Well there's a lot of people here, maybe some of them live there and they can tell us what 
they think. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  As for VDOT comments, really there's only one major comment from VDOT, and they're 
concerned about the intersection of Celebrate Virginia Parkway and Banks Ford Parkway, which 
currently Celebrate Virginia is a free-flowing movement and then you have stop signs for both 
directions on Banks Ford.  So they've met with VDOT and discussed this and VDOTs recommendation 
was to provide a round-about here.  They didn't feel like the traffic volumes, even with this 
development, in the foreseeable future would justify a traffic signal here.  So they favored the round-
about option and the applicant has proffered to construct this round-about.    
 
Mr. Bain:  (Inaudible, microphone not on) design there that you depicted, was that provided by the 
applicant? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  The applicant provided a design to VDOT and this is actually that, VDOT took their 
design and tweaked it, so this is actually VDOTs design. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  This table was provided by the applicant to demonstrate the potential total traffic 
generation at build out of Celebrate Virginia North with the proposed retirement housing development, 
and that traffic generation number is shown here and the red outline.  This table includes land that is 
zoned B-2 and M-2 near Route 17, which was included in the original traffic studies for this 
development.  The applicant anticipates with the proposed development and hypothetical numbers on 
the remaining undeveloped portions that total traffic generation would be around 40,500 and originally 
Celebrate Virginia North was expected to generate 66,500 vehicles per day.  For public safety the 
guidelines recommend 839 per unit, the proffers are 588 per unit.  The ordinance does require fire 
suppression systems in all retirement dwellings.  And as I noted before, a secondary gated emergency 
access would be provided on Greenbank Road. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Brian? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. Randall:  A quick question, is that is that 839 down to 588 based on the 1.8? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  That's correct. 
 
Mr. Randall:  I don't think your math works, by the way.  That's not… 839 down to 588 is not 1.8. 
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Mr. Geouge:  Well the way they did that was they used the county's average persons per household for 
multifamily, which is 2.57, I believe.  And if you'll notice on the proffer guideline sheet the multi-family 
contributions equal the age restricted contribution, so their position was that age restricted is going to 
have a smaller household size than the multi-family so that's where they came up with that, with that 
math there.  But I can allow the applicant to expand on that. 
 
Mr. English:  Brian, question for you in reference to public safety in that area.  And I know you 
probably don't have this answer question, that I would like you to get.  Since Celebrate Virginia has 
come in, has the… what's the cost for service as far as rescue is concerned, did they get in there and then 
if this subdivision went in, what kind of impact would that have on Fire and Rescue, but what more 
rescue than it would fire, as far as the senior community.  Could you get those from Fire and Rescue?  I 
know you don't have those tonight. 
Mr. Geouge:  I'll check on that. 
 
Mr. English:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  For libraries, guidelines suggest 651 per unit. Proffers are 456 per unit.  For general 
government they're proffering the full amount of 565 per unit.  For utilities, the Master Water and Sewer 
Plan assumed 800 residential units roughly in the area of this proposed development, for the purposes of 
utility demand calculations.  And the applicant and County staff are currently still in the process of 
evaluating the impacts those additional units would have on downstream sewer facilities.  So that's still 
being discussed.  The proposed proffers include requirement that no more than 1,177 units can be 
constructed.  Of those no more than 353 can be single-family attached units, and they include restrictive 
covenant requirements for age restriction.  They require the primary roadway between Celebrate 
Virginia Parkway and the proposed park, and require that no residential lot is going to have direct access 
to that road.  So there would be no driveways along that road, they limit the number of occupancy 
permits to 150 a year and no more than 350 prior to January 1, 2023.  This was an effort to ensure that 
the development would be developed over time and that would allow time for some of the big regional 
transportation improvements to be completed, such as what they're doing along I-95.  The proffer that 
the clubhouse complex will be constructed by the 400th occupancy permit, and also proffer to provide 
the Village Greens within each village,  Greenbank Park and the Civil War Park, with certain amenities 
within each.  And also as I mentioned to gate or to restrict public access via Greenbank Road to 
construct the trails throughout the property, to construct and maintain a FRED bus stop on the property, 
to construct a round-about at Celebrate Virginia Parkway and Banks Ford Parkway, and they've also 
proffered to improve Scott's Ford Lane, which is currently a private road, to state standards and request 
acceptance into the state system by the 250th OP.  They, as I mentioned, proffered cash contributions 
totaling $4,608 per unit and they've also proffered a water/sewer analysis and construction of any off-
site sewer upgrades required to convey sewage to the England Run Pump Station. 
 
Br. Bain:  Brian? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Excuse me, the FRED bus stop, they're proposing three separate villages.  Is it going to be a 
bus stop in each village or just one bus stop for 1,100 units? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  It would be one bus stop, likely at the main entrance of the property. 
 
Mr. Bain:  So eleven hundred aged people will have to walk… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Electric scooters. 
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Mr. Bain:  … what a half mile or three quarters of a mile to get to the bus stop? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I should note too, that that's subject to FRED's input. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Because they may not necessarily agree with the location they're proposing.  So there'd 
have to be some discussion there as to what FRED is looking for, they may want more or less stops as 
well. 
 
Mr. Bain:  I would hope more. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  And these… the parks and amenities that you're talking about in regards to recreation, you 
said that there's gonna be parks and trails.  I have a twofold question, first of all who has access to the 
trails and secondly who's gonna maintain those trails?  I know there's a case, I think it was in 
Spotsylvania, where an HOA is coming and saying we're not going to maintain this anymore, County it's 
your problem to deal with.  Could that happen here? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  The HOA would be bound to maintain all the facilities including the park facilities and 
trails throughout the development, unless they construct some of those roads to state standards, like that 
primary roadway and decide to try to get that in the state system.  At which point perhaps VDOT would 
take on some responsibility.  But I'm not sure about the HOA question and if what would happen if that 
falls through for whatever reason.  I'd have to… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Can we double check on that for next time? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  … consult with the county attorney.  
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay.   
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay.  And then access, who gets access to that?  Just residents, anybody? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I would expect it would be just residents.  It's as I mentioned before it's not clear to what 
extent this will be open to the public. If there is some aspect of public access then perhaps some of those 
could be open for public use as well. 
 
Mr. English:  But if they're gonna have that event park, the public's gonna be able to get to that correct?  
That’s and applicant question. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I would expect so, yes. 
 
Mr. English:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Staff notes the positives with this are that it's consistent with the land-use 
recommendations in the comp plan.  It's consistent with the established development pattern, park 
amenities would provide opportunities for recreation and interpretation of several historical and cultural 
resources on this property.  Proffered improvements to Celebrate Virginia and Banks Ford intersection 
are consistent with VDOT recommendations, and proffered improvements, amenities and monetary 
contributions would help offset impacts. Staff notes the negatives is that this would result in less land for 
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potential recreational or commercial uses which is inconsistent with the original vision for the 
development and the intent of RBC district.  Further utilities concerns have not been fully addressed and 
the monetary contributions are below the guideline recommendations.  Finally staff is recommending 
deferral to allow time to work through the utilities concerns and should these concerns be resolved, staff 
would recommend approval as we feel the positive aspects outweigh the negative.  And I'll take any 
questions. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Brian out a quick question if I may. So back in 1999 the Board of Supervisors 
approved this RBC and as you pointed out we all know that the B and RBC stands for business.  It was 
envisioned four and a half million square feet of office space and 15,000 jobs.  Do you know the history 
of why this has turned into basically just a retirement community and we haven't seen any business 
development?  Or are you aware why that trajectory is kind of taken this where it is?  Because it seems 
to me that it's not being treated as an RBC right now. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I could give you a brief summary but before I do that I would say the applicant is much 
better at that than I am, if you would like to… 
 
Mr. McPherson:  The applicant can answer then, thanks. 
 
Mr. Geouge: Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. English. 
 
Mr. English:  Brian, under the county's current zoning regulation requirements, how many residential 
units can the applicant actually build at Celebrate Virginia North?   
 
Mr. Geouge:  I estimate that the total would be 1,073 and that's including a development which is 
currently under review, referred to as Celebrate Now, which is 44 townhomes. 
 
Mr. English:  And how many residential units have been completed and are underway so far? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Around… I estimate 1,080 or so have been completed.  350 underway and the 44 I 
mentioned before are pending approval. 
 
Mr. English:  And how many can they still build and what's left? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Approximately 394, they could still build including the Celebrate Now project. 
 
Mr. English:  The proposed proffer amendment would add how many additional resident units to the 
total that they currently allowed to be built? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Roughly 1,177. 
 
Mr. English:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Any other questions for staff?  Go ahead Mr. Randall. 
 
Mr. Randall:  So you're adding the 1,473 and the 1,177, quick math you know 2,640… 2,650.  So the 
total amount of homes would be 2,650 in that area.  Is that correct?  Roughly, I'm not… 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Roughly, yes. 
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Mr. Randall:  Roughly? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay.  This goes to the ordinance, the 55% open space ratio? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay, you mentioned that the development or the site as we see it would meet the 55% 
ratio is that including the areas and the lots that aren't built as part… I mean the lots themselves, the 
areas and the lots that aren't built as part of open spaces?  Are they including those? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  For their initial calculation purposes they were including those.  I would say that currently 
as it's developed now with the golf course, they would probably meet the 55% ratio of how staff sees it 
as open area, common areas, recreational areas, outside of individual retirement housing lots.  However 
with this proposed development it would not meet that. 
 
Mr. Randall:  It would not meet that requirement.  In order to get to that level, in order to meet that 
requirement, they would have to count areas in a lot that aren't don't have buildings on them, is that 
correct? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Pervious areas on individual residential lots… 
 
Mr. Randall:  That's not necessarily the way we do business and other locations, correct? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  That was not our interpretation of the intent of the district open space requirement for the 
RBC district. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Any other questions?  Alright, applicant, I know Chris is chomping at the bit to come up 
here. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  Good evening Madam Chairman and members of the Planning Commission.  My name is 
Chris Hornung, I am the agent representing the applicant and the owner on this piece of property.  Age 
restricted retirement housing is in my opinion one of the most underappreciated land uses in Stafford 
County.  The average age restricted home returns back in county revenue $3.56 for every dollar in 
services that it costs.  If you compare that to your standard residential unit in the county it returns 
roughly $0.89 to the county for every dollar of expenditures that the county has.  Currently your ratio of 
age restricted or… let me rephrase that, the county currently has one of the highest percentages of 
school-age children in the state of Virginia.  The reason for that is it's a great place to raise children; you 
have great schools, people move down here.  They work in Northern Virginia, they work within the DC 
area and they want to raise their kids somewhere where they can afford a house and they can have their 
children attend quality schools.  It's been happening since the 70s, 60s and 70s when my family moved 
to Stafford County and its continued.  The challenge for that is that you're constantly trying to deal with 
your school budget.  You have your demographics are weighted towards children and that's what you 
see when you look at the Weldon Cooper projections on what your what your current demographics are 
and why your cost per capita are so high, 56% of your budget every year goes towards educating 
children and another 13% goes towards parks and rec facilities that are primarily geared towards 
children.  Age restricted retirement, on the other hand, doesn't generate school kids.  It does not generate 
significant Parks and Rec demand, if you ask the Parks and Rec Department. Most of the amenities in 
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your quality age-restricted projects that are done, the projects themselves are self-supporting.  They 
generate their own pools, their own club houses, their gyms, the bocce courts, the pickelball, the tennis 
courts, the parks, the amenities that are all there in a community.  It’s clustered; this is a cluster project 
with large amenities and a large amount of open space.  In our opinion it's good planning for the county, 
its positive revenue, and its lower traffic impacts than other land uses that are allowed by-right.  The 
average single… the average age restricted unit generates roughly around four trips per day compared to 
around ten for a non-age restricted residential unit.  It also generates on a per acre basis about one tenth 
of what an office use or another industrial type use would generate, significantly lower than what's by-
right.  With all that said that the numbers that have been submitted to the county, the county has 
reviewed, is that the project will generate a positive 4.1 million dollars a year of economic revenue, tax 
revenue, to the county.  That's direct tax money.  If you take all the tax revenues and you subtract out the 
anticipated cost per capita and you multiply it by 1.8 which is in an industry standard of the number of 
residential units in an age-restricted unit.  (Cough) Excuse me.  That money that goes in taxes is only 
part of the story the rest is roughly 36 million dollars in local spending for retail businesses and other 
businesses on the corridor, tremendous amount of construction spending that will be generated in local 
businesses during the construction, as well as support for businesses that are currently struggling today 
on the Route 17 corridor.  You've got grocery stores, home-improvement stores that are not doing well 
post-recession and have not recovered fully from the recession.  In addition age-restricted residents 
bring daytime population that can help support more restaurants and other types of retail uses that don't 
get the full day exposure that that they do in other areas where you have more of a daytime population.  
On healthcare the average resident is 65 and older spends 3 times annually what someone who's a 
working age 19 to 64 would spend annually, and with that can help expand services in the area for our 
already very a top-of-the-line medical facilities that we have, including expansion, hopefully, of some 
additional medical uses in the corridor and help spur additional medical office growth.  Before I get into 
the questions I also want to recognize that with the positives, we're very proud of the project that we're 
bringing before you.  There's also disappointment in our original vision.  Back in 1999 when the 
Celebrate Virginia project was proposed, most of it was proposed on the south side of the river in the 
City of Fredericksburg, and it was going to be a tourist venue to attract people from across the country to 
come stay and tour the area and spend money in the City of Fredericksburg.  And at that time we met 
with leaders of Stafford County who wanted to see some of that growth come to Stafford.  The idea of 
golf courses, which was the original vision in Stafford, only golf courses wasn't enough the County and 
Silver together came up with a concept to provide an office campus.  It was with the best of intentions, 
it's been worked on for 20 years, as of today there's one office use in that project.  It's not because people 
weren't working hard, the same team that developed the Quantico Corporate Center and put all those 
uses up there was the same team working on the Celebrate Virginia project in Stafford County.  The 
current vacancy rate in Stafford County for office is around 15% that doesn't tell the whole story 
because the majority of that or a significant amount of that if you look at South Stafford that percentage 
is much higher.  Rates of rental in North Stafford are very high… are relatively high, but in South 
Stafford are more akin to rental rates that you have in the City of Fredericksburg in Spotsylvania.  As it 
stands today you cannot afford to build offices in south Stafford and pay for them with the rent that you 
can get, and that's been stated several times by folks who developed and owned office buildings in the 
17 corridor.  So we do recognize that this is not what the original vision was.  There was 38 million 
dollars in infrastructure invested in the project, there was a Golf Course constructed that closed that 
costs roughly 11 million dollars that could not survive.  There were a lot of things that were done with 
the best of intentions on all sides including the County's Economic Development Department trying to 
generate uses in this area, but there's currently a for half a million square feet of vacant office space in 
the county.  And to expect that we're going to generate 5.1 million any time when we've developed 
simply 500 or 50,000 in the last 20 years, it's unrealistic. The market isn't there and nowadays people's 
office location is not as important as it used to be, you don't have to be 35 miles south of DC to have an 
office to support the federal government you can be almost anywhere.  So the demographics point that 
the major growth that the county has is in residential and if you look at the national growth trends we 
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have an aging population, the projections are by Weldon Cooper that by 2040 Stafford counties 55 and 
older demographic will increase by 88%.  That's organic and people moving here, there is a demand for 
age restricted retirement units in this market.  We also think that it's a big demand because we have we 
have the ability to build a large campus with the things that retirees are looking for.  And we know that 
because of the Del Webb communities that have been built, high-end amenities, walkable bike trails, 
things that improve quality of life, convenience to services, convenience to medical care, and so for 
those reasons we feel that we have a project that we'll be able to move forward, that will generate 
positive revenue for the county, and can be successful.  As to the questions that were asked, there were a 
number of them and first of all I want to address we did receive some questions all… that were typed up 
and they were fairly comprehensive.  We did not want to, knowing that we had this meeting tonight, 
what we wanted to do is compile those with the questions we hear tonight from both you and from the 
citizens, and try to respond comprehensively.  Some of those questions required input from the county 
and we'd like to meet with the county to talk about some of those before we present, so I can answer 
some of those but I don't have a comprehensive written response to all of them.  One of the things I… if 
I could get that computer and I don't know where your slide on proffers is… This is the County's 2015 
recommendations for proffers, and if you notice there two line items that are identical multi-family and 
age-restricted.  The county was supposed to produce methodology that justifies what proffers would be 
for age-restricted housing.  I don't know why but it seems as though the county just simply copied multi-
family and pasted it below.  It's the exact same number across the board.  That number includes almost 
$10,000 for schools in a project that generates no school kids.  It includes more proffer dollars for Parks 
and Rec than a single-family house does that has children.  I don't know if that was just simply an 
oversight or what, but I don't think it is fair to compare this chart to what we're proposing.  We used the 
county's methodology based on the cost of its improve… of its Capital Improvements on a per capita 
basis with 1.8 units… residents per unit and no school children.  And we think that is the fair way to 
compute it. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So, if I don't have kids does that mean I don't have to pay into the schools in the Stafford? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  No it doesn't, but your housing type doesn't have the luxury of prohibiting kids and in the 
state of Virginia and nationally the only way you can discriminate in housing by age is through the 
Housing for Older Persons Act, which is what we're proposing to do here.  So from a land-use 
standpoint you're right, if you don't have kids you're paying to support other people's kids.  But 
ultimately that house can support a family with children and that's why the county's regulations are there 
proffer guidance was set up this way.  As far as students in existing retirement communities, there is one 
carve out that if a… and I'm not sure if this is a situation, but there is a carve out in the Housing for 
Older Persons Act that if you have a disabled minor child of someone who is over a certain age there are 
certain carve outs that does not impact, that HOPA cannot… you cannot necessarily restrict.  I don't 
know if that's the case but out of roughly about 1500 units between two developments, two school 
children is a pretty small ratio, and I'm not really sure the circumstances of that.  The closing of the 
egress point, when we originally zoned the project the concept was it would only have one connection to 
17, it would have a grade separation and it wouldn't impact our neighbors that were all in rural streets.  
We made the connection at the end, back in 2004 because the golf course was open and the 
infrastructure wasn't finished, but we had committed to VDOT into the county and others back then that 
ultimately that road would be closed.  Today that road presents a number of challenges, not only is it 
impact on that road but where it comes out on Route 17.  According to VDOT because of its proximity 
to the interchange they can envision no scenario, even if it's widened that they want would want to 
introduce more traffic right there at that first intersection coming off the ramp.  They told us that in the 
meeting that the County attended and it's a private street.  So at this point we have felt that it's our 
obligation to move forward with closing it as we always proposed and because it's the right thing to do 
in regards to the county and to VDOT.  Ultimately what we have decided to do is try our best to extend 
this project.  We don't envision this project moving forward with a significant number of units prior to 
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the improvements on 95 being completed, which is 2023.  That's the main reason why you see the traffic 
using Sanford Road, they're trying to avoid Route 17 today and the primary culprit of that is backup on 
95. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Is there a solve to the fact that Stafford residents have no access point to the HOT lanes 
going south? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  Is there a solution to that? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Is there a solution right now that we know of? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I'm not aware of that… of a solution today to get on HOT lanes and go southbound in the 
evenings.  I do know at 17 it switches over from HOT lanes to collector distributor roads, so you will be 
able to get on to 17 on either of the mainline or under the collector's distributor road and there'll be six 
lanes of capacity rather than three that you have today.  Just a couple more things and I apologize, as far 
as the trails, they all will be maintained by the community.  There will be homeowners documents that 
are signed where it's not an opt-in anyone who lives there just like the other age restricted communities 
everyone pays a monthly assessment that goes towards all the amenities and to cover those.  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Let me ask a quick question about that.  At what point in time do you see turning the 
development over to an HOA?  There's a limited… is it 75% of total development when you actually 
turn it over? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I'm not certain, I know industry standard normally when you get over 50%... there's 
thresholds where residents that live in the community start serving on the Board and then typically 
there's a handoff.  There's still normally a management company that does the management, but the 
Board goes from the development entity or the owner to the residents. 
 
Mr. Randall:  But they don't actually established an HOA until a certain percentage of housing units. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  No, the HOA will be established before the first unit is sold.  That's the only way to 
create the covenants and restrictions on the property… 
 
Mr. Randall:  So that would be different… 
 
Mr. Hornung:  … and the obligation.  
 
Mr. Randall:  Right.  Because there are some developments that we have currently that don't operate that 
way.  The developer is the one that maintains everything until, I think, with the development I'm 
thinking of is that 75%... once they get to 75%, they do have members on the Board, but the developer is 
the one who runs, maintains, operates, controls all of the different amenities in that development until 
the HOA is established and it gets turned over they start paying dues the whole nine yards.  And so, I 
didn't know if that was something you were gonna do or if you established HOA, then that means the 
first three people that are going to be buying houses are responsible for maintaining everything? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  No typically what happens is the developer or owner will cover the cost of the HOA.  
Each homeowner will have an assessment, but obviously that annual assessment, if you have three 
owners they can't afford to do it.  So normally what happens is that assessment is capped at a certain 
level and it takes years before you have enough residents in the community where their revenues 
actually can take the place of what the initial builder or developer may have put in.  Normally a 
developer or builder, they will allocate or they'll put that money in at the beginning of a project to be 
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used to cover the ongoing maintenance of the property until the point where it becomes… until it goes in 
the black or it can pay for itself.  But in the meantime, any residential contributions coming from it are... 
they help reduce that amount that's paid. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay, so that's the way you intend…. that’s the way you would foresee this happening in 
the future at this location? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  That's correct. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay, I guess I would need to find out from staff if that's the typical normal process for 
the development of HOA with all the different developments we have.  I would like to see something 
more along the lines of what we currently do versus something we just do for this one in particular.  But 
anyway thank you. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  Okay, thank you.  No jobs… 55% open space, this has been… this is the last thing I have.  
This has been a bit of a point of, I'll call it contention with staff, the original RBC did not have a 55% 
open space requirement it had 0.55 OSR and an OSR is the Open Space Ratio.  And the way that is 
computed, if you look at the definition, it's basically anything in a project that is open compared to the 
overall project.  So in an office development your parking lot islands, your curb islands, all of that is 
included in that OSR, it counts.  When the project started having residential development the County 
said well when we do residential we don't count that, but the overall project of 55 assumed that every 
parcel would have some on-site open space.  So when staff says we would not meet it today, we feel that 
the original intent of the OSR was that anything throughout the project that is green counts towards the 
OSR.  What staff has proposed, we're fine with, that because we are subtracting out residential units 
from that calculation now, the overall OSR should be reduced because we're no longer counting what 
was in those large land pods other than the big common areas.  So in my opinion this has been 
somewhat of a math exercise and it… if you look at what was originally envisioned, it never said that 
within a commercial development or within a… the residential space within the executive housing that's 
permitted, that none of that open space counts. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Sir, to that point though, if you would have come on… in 1999 if you would have come in 
with this development, would you agree that we would not have used the OSR to determine open space?   
That we would have used in the actual ordinance that's in the Stafford County or says the percentage is 
this, that impervious lots aren't used ,but we're not gonna use an OSR.  The only reason OSR was used 
because you had three or four hundred acre golf courses that were gonna be planned in here and that was 
all gonna work into the OSR. 
 
Mr. Hornung:   The first part is fair, that if it was residential from the beginning we probably… it 
probably wouldn't have an OSR.  It would have an open space requirement that was just the dedicated 
open space.  However, the golf course, if you add in originally the golf course to the conservation 
easements to everything that's on site the OSR at the completion of the project probably would have 
been 0.68 because it's so… because the golf course… the original plan was not that the golf course was 
a forever land use, there could be some redevelopment of one of those the second third course down the 
road.  So it wasn't necessarily a static number at that point, it was what was reasonable and achievable 
based on the OSR definition and the proposed use.  So that's basically all I have.  I will say that I am 
proud of this development one of the things I've worked hard on is the park concept.  The original plan 
was the park would be a public park open to everyone similar to Government Island, the park there, 
similar to the Civil War Park.  There's an incredible amount of history on this peninsula.  So far the 
response we've gotten back is that while Parks and Rec and Tourism and others love the idea of the park, 
there has not been support and it perhaps it needs to come at the Board level to make it a public park.  
We're willing to build it, we're willing to maintain I, we're willing to regulate when it's open to the 
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public, because we can't have it all the time open to the public while the private entity is developing it.  
But we really hope that ultimately it can become a public park if the county decides that that's how 
they'd like to move forward with it. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. Bain. 
 
Mr. Horning:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Yes on that issue, you've spoken to the parks director regarding that, has any other 
discussions… I don't think it's been brought before the Planning Commission or the Supervisors for 
discussion, at least not to my knowledge.  Has it just been the parks director and staff at this point? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I've been working on the park for two years I've talked to a lot of people.  The Historic 
Commission, the Museum Foundation, Parks and Rec, Tourism, Economic Development… 
 
Mr. Bain:  In terms of… 
 
Mr. Hornung:  … Supervisors. 
 
Mr. Bain:  In terms of getting a response from the County that they're not interested, that's primarily 
from the parks? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I don't want to… I don't want to speak… I think Brian should address that, but my 
understanding is that individual department heads or members were… did not have the authority to 
agree that this should become a public park.  That ultimately that decision lies with the Board of 
Supervisors.  So until this matter moved forward to the Board, they were not in a position to say yes this 
should be a public park. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  That's my understanding. 
 
Mr. Bain:  In in the discussions that you had, what were you offering to do?  Just turn the land over to 
the county and let them make a park or were you going to develop it fully and then turn it over in a 
turnkey operation?  What was offered? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  The proffers that you see in the proffer package, is what we were proposing to do for a 
public park.  Build the parking lot, an exhibit shelter, bathrooms, events field, trails, interpretive signs 
and we also agreed that we would provide an ongoing maintenance funding towards the county to help. 
Because we do feel that while this is a public park for the community, it's also a big draw for a 
retirement community.  And so we were willing to put money towards its ongoing maintenance.  That 
was the original proposal and when there wasn't as much desire to see it become public, what you have 
today in the proffers was what we felt w… it's still the same list but it's as a private park that will be 
open to the public.  So we haven't stripped it of anything but it we didn't want to include anything saying 
it would be a public park if that wasn't the Board's desire. 
 
Mr. Bain:  I guess I'm a little baffled why the County wouldn't accept that if it was fully funded for both 
construction and maintenance.  I don't know, I don't have the answer and I guess you don't either.  But 
that… 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I don't. 
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Mr. Bain:  …baffles me.  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Any other questions for Mr. Hornung… 
 
Mr. English:  Chris, just kind of back on their proffer thing with the school, you're saying that you're 
recommending zero money towards schools right for the proffers? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  That's correct. 
 
Mr. English:  Zero money… and then in reference to the event space where… the right there and I think 
it's C maybe on your on the map where you're gonna have the events and stuff like that.  Is that gonna be 
open to the public and what kind of events are you talking about having?  Is it's gonna be like Celebrate 
Virginia where they… 
 
Mr. Hornung:  No, no. 
 
Mr. English:  … have concerts and stuff like that? 
 
Mr. Horning:  No and one of the areas of concern when we did have conversations about it becoming a 
public park was impact of, what are the types of events?  How large they can be?  I think if you look at 
what's in the listing, I think it was a one acre... was it an acre?  Do you recall what's in the proffers, the 
size of the events field?  One acre, that's a relatively small event space.  Our thinking was a small wine 
festival. 
 
Mr. English:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  A, you know the Stafford Civil War type, of you know, a reenactment where you could 
have a small-scale reenactment, things like that.  Someone could have a wedding, those kinds of things.  
It was never intended to be, you know, you might have a small… 
 
Mr. English:  Big scale. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  No it was never intended to be like a grandstand with music… loud music and that kind 
of stuff like it's going on the other side of the river. 
 
Mr. English:  Thank you.    
 
Mr. Bain:  Just real quick, maybe Mr. Harvey, I had submitted some questions and some of the 
responses that you provided indicated that there would be follow-up with the applicant or has the 
applicant been provided those questions yet, or will he?   
 
Mr. Harvey:  Commissioner Bain, yes the applicants been given a copy of the questions.  As you 
indicated, staffs working through to create or a finalized response with the assistant of the applicant. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Right now the response is in draft form. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Right.  The only reason I asked, I won't raise those questions with Mr. Hornung now, I will 
wait to get his response later then. 
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Ms. Vanuch:  And Commissioner Apicella submitted, I think, 18 or 19 questions as well.  Some of 
which we've already asked and I think we plan to ask as this moves forward.  But I think we would like 
to have those as part of the written record in the minutes.  Do we need a motion to do that Miss 
McClendon?  Okay, so we'll just make that formal request to have those as part of the record.  Mr. Bain, 
would you like your questions as part of the record as well? 
 
Mr. Bain:  Yes, I would.  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, perfect.  Any questions for Mr. Horning and then we can have the public hearing.  
Remember he gets to come back up again. 
 
Mr. Randall:  I have a question for you. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  I have a question. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:   Okay, let me do when we do Mr. McPherson first. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Please. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Perfect. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Per my question to Brian that you address somewhat at the beginning of your 
discussion, the lack of business there.  Based on the proposal that I'm seeing now is your company 
basically writing off any future business development?  It looks like there's not any future growth 
options for business to 15,000 jobs as originally envisioned.  Can you address that? 
 
Mr. Hornung: I think this particular land form being located almost… about three miles from Route 17 
of the Celebrate Virginia project and of the 17 corridor is unlikely to develop and to provide… be able 
to provide the type of office development we see occurring on the 17 corridor.  You look at Riverside 
Dinner Theater that property around the dinner theater where there's offices there's vacant land 
immediately adjacent that ready for office development.  There's also vacant land up towards 17 within 
the celebrate Virginia project that is sitting there that can accommodate 300,000 square feet of office 
use.  This particular land form, being so far away and in the setting it is, we feel is most likely not going 
to be one of the first that you're going to see absorb, if and when the office market returns in the future. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. Randall. 
 
Mr. Randall:  (Inaudible, microphone not on) couple questions if you don't… just bear with me, if you 
don't mind.  How long was the Canyon Ridge Golf Course opened, do you know? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  It originally opened in 2004 and I believe it closed for the first time in 2014.  It then 
reopened… 
 
Mr. Randall:  Under new management? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  Under new management, the silver companies kept it maintained for two years, mowing 
grass, fertilizing, watering for two years trying to find an operator.  It did have an operator who came in 
and reopened it and it closed again in December of 17… 
 
Mr. Randall:  Was there a particular reason why?  Did they give a reason why they couldn’t make it 
work? 
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Mr. Hornung:  I am not an expert on the golf market, but when the project was originally envisioned it 
was anticipated that the popularity of golf was just kind of on the cusp, that it was ready for explosion.  
And if you look at what has happened with golf since 05, 06, 07 in many areas like Myrtle Beach and 
others, they're closing golf courses and redeveloping them. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Because they have 350 of them in two miles. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  They do.  And when the golf course opened they were projecting people playing golf 
rounds at a certain level, they were expecting roughly about 32,000 rounds of golf a year. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Right. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  At an average rate of about $60 a golf round. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Yeah. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  When they opened they were getting 16,000 rounds at $42 and the economics were 
totally different.  I don't know if that's because some of it relied on the fact that they thought it would be 
more tourism golf or not but the economics if you're a run through the play and what they pay, it's very 
difficult to… 
 
Mr. Randall:  No, as a golfer I'll tell you yeah $60 is a tough… is a tough place to play around here.   
You can do something pretty… alright,  you mentioned 1.8… it's been mentioned several times at 1.8 
household,  do we know what the Del Webb community that you have right there and… do you know 
what they currently are at?  What percentage they're at? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I don't have that number for you.  I know that industry standards around 1.8 and I don't 
know if the county did any research to… on that particular community.  I don't have access to… 
 
Mr. Randall:  So the proffer changes were based on a national standard, not a local existing standard? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I think that’s… yes that is correct. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay, all right.  When it comes to proffers you mentioned that… we're going to go to 
parks and then we'll go to transportation.  So you're saying that you would prefer not to do any proffers 
for parks because the civil war park and the 66 acre park, you feel, are enough park space for the 
approximate 3,000 people that will be living in the area?  Is that what you're… 
 
Mr. Hornung:  The estimate is 2,001 or 19 residents.  If you look at the Del Webb community what 
types of recreation do those people do?   It's their clubhouse, it's the gym, its pickleball, it's 
hiking/walking trails down through the woods, those are all of the things that we are proposing to build 
as part of this project.  In our opinion, the proffers that are listed here for Parks and Rec assume that all 
of the demand for Parks and Rec is off-site because for most housing that's what it is, its ball fields.  The 
demand for age-restricted for softball fields and soccer fields is pretty low and they will have their own 
pool.  So using the community pools is not expected.  In addition to that, we felt that constructing the 
public park as it was originally envisioned… 
 
Mr. Randall:  Sure. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  … helped satisfy a greater need for Parks and Rec.  We were told that Parks and Rec did 
not identify a Parks and Rec need currently in that area. 
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Mr. Randall:  Sure. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  But we felt that given that it would help tell the story of Stafford and would draw a larger 
audience, that it was a benefit to the entire county. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Sure.  One of the things that I think you've… you’ve talked about parks a lot but I think 
we're minimizing what the county does for recreation and I think to say that we don't think that our 
2,197 occupants will do anything outside of our community, which is why we have zero Park and 
Recreation proffers.  You know if it was a full amount we would say then they don't have anything they 
can do locally everything has to be outside the community.  But then again by saying there's no Park and 
Rec proffers, we're saying that everything's going to be done inside the community.  And I'm not 
necessarily sure that would be the case.  There's a lot the Stafford does recreational wise that I don't 
think you're gonna be able to find locally, especially in the winter, right when you can't do anything 
outside, all of these… the Village Green that's a great concept but none of that will be accessible in the 
winter per se.  And so most of the recreation that they'll be doing will be Stafford… will be countywide.  
They'll have to go to a gym and they'll have to go to other places to do things that may not be available 
locally.  So I think you need to look at re-engaging with the Parks and Rec proffers because I think there 
are some benefits that the County can provide to those occupants, that that wouldn't just be local.  
Transportation, currently you have offered transportation of… close to $3,000, and those are equal to the 
impact fees, right?  So you'd be paying the $3,000 anyway.  So in essence there's really no additional 
proffers for transportation.  Is that fair to say?  
 
Mr. Horning:  When the project was constructed many… as an office campus. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Sure. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  Many of its impacts were addressed through construction of transportation both on and 
off site.  Roughly seven and a half million dollars was spent on Route 17, widening Route 17 and 
building the underpass into the project, to help mitigate demand.  The current zoning and the original 
plan would allow 66,000 vehicles per day.  Our perception on that is we're actually proposing a land-use 
that's going to reduce traffic and the original zoning that was approved and the infrastructure was put in 
that's paid for by everybody in the project, was part of that transportation proffer back then.  When we 
submitted the original proffer analysis for transportation, I think the number came in at about $1,500 per 
unit.  Based… using the math that the County gave… that we had from the previous County studies and 
the response we got from county staff was well you have to pay a minimum of $3,000 because anything 
you pay in proffers is subtracted from the impact fee.  So we said okay, well then its $3,000, we'll pay 
that.  But the way that it works is everybody pays 3,000 and anything you agree to pay and 
transportation is subtracted from that.  So if we had established the proffers lower at 1,500 we would be 
paying 1,500 in impact fees.  Because they… in light… until you exceed the 3,000 you don't pay any 
more than the impact fee. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Sure, I know, I understand.  I'm just saying that my point to that is that, you know, 17 is… 
if you've been through there at 4 o'clock in the afternoon, 5 o'clock in the afternoon it can be a problem 
and so all of this, no matter what it is all of its going to be feeding into 17. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I agree. 
 
Mr. Randall:  And it's gonna be… and so, I think that that will be an issue moving forward.  I have one 
more thing… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yeah. 
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Mr. Randall:  … and then we can go, sorry. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  That’s good. 
 
Mr. Randall:  You mentioned that the community center will not be built, you're not a proffer it being 
built until you have the 400th unit.  I'm sure that's occupied… an occupancy permit for the 400th unit.  
But yet then there's 350 that are proffered up until 2023.  I'm used to seeing places where they build 
those amenities first, so that even the first three or four or five occupants can take advantage of those 
amenities without having to wait conceivably two, three, four, or five years for those things to happen 
whether it's the Village Green open areas what … and I'm assuming in those Village Green open areas 
there's going to be courts, there's going to be things to do, there's going to be a swimming pool in the 
community center.  In the end this goes to the total Parks and Recreation proffers, you know until 
everything's in place there won't be anything for those occupants to do, they'll be literally sitting in their 
houses not having an ability to do these things because they won't be built.  Is there a reason why we 
waited so long to build these amenities for these occupants and not have them built early, first?  You 
know there are some places that build these… the very first thing built in the community is a community 
center, so that no matter when they are… build the houses people can still take advantage of those. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  I think there's opportunity to modify that proffer to potentially accelerate the construction 
of that.  I don't think it could be constructed before anything is built because you have to have a certain 
critical mass of users, just simply operate the building.  Probably one of the number one sales tools of 
the Celebrate by Del Webb community is their Clubhouse.  You may not know this but back in 2007 
they built a temporary clubhouse, it cost them a couple million dollars, that they operated initially 
because it wasn't as large and they tried to use that until they got a certain critical mass of users.  And 
after they got to, I don't know what it was 350 or 400, they built the ten million dollar plus facility they 
have today.  So they have the critical mass and tore down the temporary use… temporary clubhouse.  
Those two are linked, the ability to sell units and having the amenities are linked.  So it would be in the 
developer and the builder's best interest to get it built as quickly as it can, but it also has massive 
infrastructure costs to put in waters, roads, sewer that it has to carry while it's waiting for those units to 
develop.  So, you know I think there is opportunity to shrink that a little bit, to get it a little bit sooner if 
that's an area of concern.  I don't think it can be… it's practical to have it as day one, particularly when 
you don't know what the absorption is of the sales.  But an earlier time may be achievable to help 
address that concern. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay, alright, thank you.  
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Alright.  
 
Mr. Randall:  That’s all I have for now. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, I think we're good on questions.  Thanks Mr. Hornung.   Okay, so at this point we're 
gonna open up the public hearing, so if anyone wants to come down and speak please come down to the 
microphone.  State your name, address and if you know the district that you reside that would always be 
helpful.  You'll have three minutes, when the yellow light comes on you have one minute left and when 
the red light starts blinking please conclude your comments.  Please go ahead. 
 
Ms. Foley:  Thank you.  As I started before, the traffic in the area is horrendous now. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Could you state your name for us? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Your name and address… 
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Mr. Randall:   Your name and address, please. 
 
Ms. Foley:   Carol Foley, since we've been in the area since 1991, and as the area has developed it's been 
great I have no complaints about it.  But the traffic alone from GEICO is affecting all the streets around 
that area because of the volume.  And that's one business, this is one of the issues it's traffic, traffic and 
traffic.  I have no complaints about the development itself, but there's really no way to handle it.  With 
the infrastructure on 95, by the time we get to 2023 you're going to be out of date again.  So it's not 
going to solve the issue and I think you have to look really hard at how you handle the volume of people 
when you approve situations like this.  And I also have a very big feeling about the fact that we continue 
to agree to develop beautiful places like this and yet we have very, very little affordable housing for 
hourly workers.  There's really not very much out there for these people.  We have over 700 homeless 
students in our schools, in the high school.  And that's a disgrace, so you're not adding students but 
you're not helping the community.  And I know businesses aren't set out to help the community in that 
way, but I think the combination of everything really should give you second thoughts.  You know, we 
need jobs for our young people as well as jobs for people who want to live here and work here. And I 
don't see… I agree with the fact that there are commercial buildings near the dinner theater, which is 
always crowded, but those buildings are half empty.  So what are we not doing to draw?  That's another 
issue, so you don't want more commercial buildings, so if you're not building commercial you're going 
to build houses.  But you have to figure out a way to do it to the benefit of the whole community, not 
just a small segment.  And basically that's it.  Good luck what's what you're doing. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Miss Foley.  If you guys wanted to form like a small line, like one or two 
people if you want, go ahead. 
 
Ms. Newton:  My name is Martha Newton, I've lived in the area since 1983. And of what I just heard the 
gentleman say that he wanted to close off Greenbank Road, that means to me that I will no longer be 
able to go to Lake Mooney.  Because you have to access that circle to go to Lake Mooney, and he's 
proposing for Greenbank Road to be cut off.  So is he telling me I then… instead of coming straight 
down Greenbank Road, I would have to go down on to Celebrate Virginia and access it or is he going to 
cut off the Celebrate Virginia people from accessing Lake Mooney, which is a public fishing and 
boating area.  And then the other thing is the traffic, I… it usually takes me 25 minutes to go from 
Greenbank Road to 95, and that counts the tractor trailers that get three deep in the lanes merging to one 
lane.  And the traffic flowed better when it was actually just two lanes, at least to me it did.  Yes it 
makes it nice for the left-hand lane if you're going to go to Target or something like that.  And normally 
for me to go to south on 95 I go in the left-hand Lane and go and then go north and get off the exit ramp, 
get off the exit ramp, and then go south.  Because that's the only way you get around the traffic on 17.  
But I do not want to be blocked off from going to Lake Mooney, because that was something that was 
discussed… that wasn't discussed when Lake Mooney was put into effect.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you very much Mrs. Newton, and we'll get the answer to that question when the 
applicant comes back up.  
 
Ms. Newton:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:   Thank you.  Come on down next. 
 
Mr. Foley:  John J. Foley, we've been living in that address for about 27 years, so we were very familiar 
with the situation.  We used to have our meetings at that clubhouse, where the golf course is.  So I am 
familiar with the gentleman who was running it, alright.  From a conversation with him prior, he 
indicated to us that he was being forced out.  His business was making money.  As a matter of fact he 
even indicated that for the first time in three years since he'd been there that he was seeing in the black.  

Page 21 of 60 



Planning Commission Minutes 
December 19, 2018 
 
Saying he was told that he had to vacate in two weeks.  They did not renew his lease and as far as I'm 
concerned what the gentlemen had to say over here is inaccurate and wrong.  They were forcing him out 
so they could do what they're doing now.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Brown:  Good evening my name is Phil Brown.  I'm the Director of Corporate Planning for Mary 
Washington Healthcare. I'm speaking on behalf of Mary Washington Healthcare, the parent organization 
of both Stafford and Mary Washington Hospitals, to express our support for the Villages of Greenbank 
Community Development.  It's our honor to provide exceptional care to all the residents of Stafford 
County and developments like the Villages of Greenbank are helpful to our region's health care system, 
and its continuing quest to meet the health care needs of the area.  In just a few years we, Mary 
Washington Healthcare, have made significant additions to the services in and around Stafford County, 
with advanced imaging, neurological services, advanced cancer services and many others.  Responsible 
growth in our population supports the development of an ever broadening array of health care services, 
so in essence this development will help to promote further growth of the healthcare system.  In a 
study… 2007 study by the Center of Disease Control, titled Moving Ahead, it opens with this, it says 
“encouraging older adults to become active and stay active has developed into an important public 
health priority, while the physical and emotional benefits of exercise are increasingly well-known, just 
40% of adults are engaged in regular physical and leisure activity.”  So from a wellness perspective the 
health benefits of this adult community in terms of promoting socialization, reducing loneliness have 
been shown to promote longevity.  This is a good thing for the parks and the amenities that this facility 
will have.  In fact a 2011 study done by the University of Miami's Global Business Forum showed that 
lifestyle and attitude are significantly more important than genes in determining the vitality of one's 
golden years.  As a retirement community the Villages of Greenbank residents can benefit from the 
environment provided in this community, and still as older citizens, and I'm getting there, residents of 
the villages are likely to have the need for exceptional health care, Chris alluded to that, close to their 
home.  And that's the goal that Mary Washington Healthcare is trying to provide for all Stafford County 
residents.  So Mary Washington Healthcare stands ready to provide the care that's needed by the future 
residents of this community.  So on behalf of Mary Washington Healthcare, I'd like to thank you all for 
your diligence in what you do in promoting smart growth for Stafford County.  And we look forward to 
continuing to provide care for this community.  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Brown. 
 
Mr. Alton:  Good evening.  I'm Robert Alton, I reside in the Battleground Estates subdivision.  And I'm 
currently serving as a vice president of our homeowners association.  Chris and the Silver Companies 
have met with our community.  He gave a presentation at our annual meeting, and you know, from our 
community's perspective as far as those that I've spoken with, we're warm to this idea.  You know, we're 
favorable to it.  And you know, the retirees are really a welcome group to our community.  I couldn't 
think of a better idea… a better example of smart growth, you know, that would generate some taxable 
revenue for the county property tax revenue and such.  Also, a lot of what I've heard about the traffic 
impacts, you know, I just don't think there's ground truth in it.  My observation living in the community 
for a number of years, I jog up and down the Celebrate Parkway several days a week and on weekends. I 
commute to DC a couple days a week, and the traffic that comes out of the current retirement 
community, Del Webb, is very intermittent in nature.  There is no AM and PM rush attributable to that 
community, it's just non-existent.  Yes there is some of a backup on Sanford where it connects to 17, but 
it has nothing to do with these communities, nothing at all.  I see that day in and day out.  So, you know, 
hopefully I'm sure that the County can work some of the finer details around the proffers to what makes 
sense.  I am hopeful that there can be some contribution to schools, because I know that we definitely 
need that. I have, you know, three kids in Stafford County Schools today and I think that's important.  
So, you know, and then you know, maybe finally work out a manageable number of units there.  But 
everything that's been described,  I believe and the members of our community that I've spoken to have 
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also spoken to our neighboring HOA with Del Webb, they've all been in favor of it.  In comparing all 
the options or alternatives, this is as the previous gentleman just said an example of smart growth.  This 
would be good for the County.  It would be good for the business on 17.  We're not interested in having 
the business come down to us.  I understand what the plans were from back in the 90s but you've all 
heard of the great recession, things changed, now there's a lot more residential down there.  We're not 
looking for commercial.  A residential retirement community just makes sense.  So, thank you.  
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Bates:  Hello, let me raise it up a little bit.  Hello, my name is Don Bates, I live in Celebrate Del 
Webb.  First of all I'd like to thank you guys for looking at smart urban planning, because that's what 
this really is.  What we provide is a high educational level of the residents that are live in celebrate.  
Definitely high economics and that's what we bring in other communities like Greenbank will bring in to 
this area.  We have a 30,000 square foot Clubhouse, we do not go out.  We have everything that's 
imaginable that we want to do, you know.  I mean if you can imagine it, we have it.  We wanted the golf 
course to succeed but in America the golf courses I don't care where you go, and I'm a golfer, they are 
not succeeding.  Tiger Woods brought it back for a minute, but the young they are in the MTV world.  
They will not play it, it's going to worry way of horse racing.  The old guys want it to work but it's not 
gonna work, so what we’ve got to look at is planning for today and what we don't want is some strange 
industrial thing to be down at that end of the… of the world.  We know that these type of communities 
have low crime, they bring really a good class of people into the community.  And one of the things that 
when I talked to Gary Snellings, I generally meet with him about five or six times a year because I'm the 
liaison to the Board of Directors for Celebrate.  One of the things that we want is businesses, we want 
sit-down restaurants.  We go and spend money in Spotsylvania, in Fredericksburg.  Tomorrow is my 49th 
anniversary, I'm not eating in this county.  Every time we talk to people about it, they say hey you guys 
don't have enough rooftops.  It's in your hand to make that happen.  We want… we got 14 hotels within 
a 2½ mile area.  I stayed at one when my house was built, they gave me a list of restaurants that my wife 
and I could stay at, none of them was in Stafford County.  We need residential because businesses are 
drawn by rooftops, and that's an important thing.  Right now we have businesses that went… White's 
went out of business, there are empty businesses on 17.  The problem with traffic on 17 is not from us, 
it's from Garrisonville, you know where it's coming.  I moved from Washington DC area of Virginia it's 
coming down, and that's what creates it.  What we really want a road to go north, okay, to Stafford 
County, hopefully to the Stafford Town Center.  We're trying to get on 95 even to go north, the easiest 
thing for us to do is to leave our County.  So take a long look at this, we invite Mr. Harvey, Darrell, 
we've talked to Mr. Hornung to come by our facility, we would like to talk to you.  You're gonna get a 
diverse amount of… I’m watching this thing… the first amount of input from the people that live there.  
Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Ledoux:  Hi I'm John Ledoux, I live in the Aquia District presently, but my wife tells me I'm gonna 
be moving to Celebrate Virginia.  It's a chain of command thing.  I spent 25 years on the Stafford Parks 
and Recs Commission, so I think I'll take a quick minute to tell you that the reason they won't take a 
park is, we saw this so many times, developer would take space they couldn't do anything with and say 
oh we'll make it a park and we'll give it to you.  Where is the money to maintain it?  Those parks aren't 
free folks.  Just because somebody gives you land doesn't mean you can have a park, it takes a lot more.  
Second, like you said Mr. Randall, Parks and Recs gives a lot of classes, trips, seniors support them very 
much, and I suspect anybody living down here who's a senior will use that.  Now, in terms of the facts 
we're looking at here for these over a thousand units, they have 441 acres and they're gonna promise 
they're gonna give was a total of 3 acres for Village Greens out of 441 and something for a passive park 
and something I couldn't ever get the exact figures for a Civil War Park, which may be open or maybe 
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not be open or maybe it's a secret or you can't get it… we don't know, we can't tell.  Now, the most 
recent data that we were given in Virginia there was 67,000 grandparents that had to take care of the 
kids.  And there are special exceptions.  But more important as you said ma'am, I think education is a 
community responsibility.  They don't want to give anything.  They basically don't want to give anything 
to anything; I understand that.  Most houses they don't cover with their taxes the support they need.  
They insist they will.  Don't have the data to go back.  I doubt it.  But I can tell you that the one-time 
proffers that they're giving are gonna leave the taxpayers of Stafford County holding the bag somewhere 
down the road because they're just nickel and diming you to death.  Nothing for Parks and Rec.  Nothing 
for schools.  Everything for us.  Now, as the last gentleman said who maybe a neighbor soon, yeah, 
we're not the one causing the traffic.  But drive 17 - I've had to drive it several times.  It's not a 
driveway, it's a Parkway.  It's a parking lot.  It doesn't matter who's there.  Now you're going to add 
several thousand more people doing that?  I'm not sure.  Once approved I have to ask, because I saw this 
so many times in the past on the Parks and Recs Commission, once they get approved for houses how 
long does it take before they go, well let's just add a few more, well let's just make a change a little bit.  
They always come back.  I'm not suggesting that these people are evil, the developers, in fact some of 
them are friends.  They merely follow the philosophy of the character in the movie Gordon Gekko, I 
think was Wall Street.  Greed is good.  Their job is not to do what is best for the County, their job is to 
make as much money as they can.  Your job is to do what's best for the County.  At the present time 
with all the vagaries we’re given, you need to deny this.  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Ledoux.   
 
Ms. Callandar:  Good evening.  I'm Alane Callander in the Falmouth District.  I reluctantly came out 
tonight because I thought it was important to express to you that you should defer action on this 
reclassification.  In fact, the public hearing should remain open so that people engaged in the holidays 
right now still have an opportunity to comment.  Also it seems more information is going to be coming 
in, so the public hearing should remain open.  I have to admit it's exasperating for those of us who were 
here years ago when the Recreational Business Campus was created.  It's discouraging how little of the 
original plan has come to fruition.  Okay, so active adult housing has sold.  But that doesn't mean you 
need to put all your eggs in that basket for this part of the county.  I do favor the concept of an 
interpretive Park to draw attention to the history and environment of the area.  Once that park is 
developed, it seems to me that the area will be more attractive as a Recreational Business Campus.  For 
example, a conference center could go in.  A place where tourists would want to stay; it could be sort of 
a small resort.  But I don't… when I hear the gentleman talk about we need more rooftops, sorry, that 
isn't why we don't have sit-down restaurants on the 17 corridor.  It's got to do with attracting the 
appropriate restaurants instead of having all these fast-food places.  I have so many comments I want to 
make after hearing others come and I’m not sure I'm going to be able to do all that.  Regarding the golf 
course, I heard the same thing that they were forced out, that if the golf course was coming back - I 
know I had been out there before to the clubhouse for events - it was a nice facility.  I was told by people 
who live in Celebrate that the golf course was forced out because the developer wanted this project to go 
through.  So, please consider that.  I think that if you're going to have the active adult community that 
you need to have the amenities that they would need there, be it a clubhouse, certainly the park is a great 
idea.  One of the things… I'm out of time, but one of the things I wondered is this zoning… does this 
zoning allow for a small convenience store near their homes so they don't have to drive out to 17 to get a 
carton of milk?  I have other comments I'll send to you.  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Ms. Callander. 
 
Mr. Ahearn:  Good evening.  My name is Patrick Ahearn.  I am the producer and the Artistic Director at 
the Riverside Center for the Performing Arts, formerly known as the Riverside Dinner Theatre.  We 
have, in the last four or five years, grown immensely providing what we have become known for now as 
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a gem for entertainment and quality Broadway style productions here in Stafford County and we love 
being in Stafford County.  We employ about a 150 people a year; 50 full-time employees, a lot of those 
people some of the actors that come in not only from locally but from all over the United States.  And 
over the past four years going back maybe about four years ago, we were topping out about 40,000 
people coming through our doors and that's just for the theater alone.  Currently we will go over in 2018 
80,000 people through our doors this year.  There has been a push with live music now, live Orchestra, 
quality productions, the newer Broadway productions, and we have been attracting people from all of 
our local environs providing Stafford County with something truly wonderful.  And people from all over 
the United States now.  I'm happy and it gives me great pleasure to support the Villages at Greenbank 
because 70% of our audiences are 55-plus.  And we currently have quite a few people coming in from 
the Del Webb organization, Falls Run, and not only from our local area but from all over the United 
States.  Riverside Center is looking to grow.  Our strategic plan calls for down 5 to 10 years wanting to 
develop the dinner theater space into more of a Performing Arts Center, converting the space into maybe 
possibly 800 seats down the road.  We could also not only be a theater for the local area, but we could 
also bring in some of the smaller national touring organizations.  So, our reach out to have the adult 
communities in the area that I know they love exercise and all the different things that come with the 
local community, but they also like to travel out and see quality entertainment as well.  And as we grow 
at Riverside Center and continue to bring the best passion and excellence and everything we do here and 
becoming more nationally recognized for Stafford County, it is my pleasure to support yet another 55-
plus community in this area.  Thank you for listening tonight; appreciate it. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Ahearn.  Anyone else? 
 
Mr. Waldowski:  Paul Waldowski, gerrymandered Rock Hill District.  I also own property in the 
gerrymandered GriffisWidewater District.  This is for Mary Washington, you know, I'm over… I'm on 
Medicare man.  I'm lonely, you know, I’m sitting on a porch and waiting to die.  Now I have firsthand 
experience with this HOA, the houses of aristocrats.  I had a contract on it, I own the documents, and I 
got released from the contract because it's a terrible HOA.  And let me educate you all about HOAs 
because you don't know nothing about HOAs, especially staff.  It's a Virginia corporation.  And when 
you have a Virginia corporation you'll be like 8 Picket Lane, you'll own 125th of a park.  And next year, 
guess what?  My petition goes out.  Got 8 new homeowners, I only need 17 signatures, had 13 a few 
years ago.  I think I'll get 17; you're gonna get a new park.  And guess what?  It's right across the street 
from the over 55 community.  You know, the baby boomers got the money.  We're not moving into over 
55 communities.  Some of them have to get moved because they're being pushed, you know, it's kind of 
like my 18 year old.  Please go to college, get a job, go move somewhere else, move to LA, Adam.  He's 
working for Netflix so he's done okay.  Now, it's pronounced “We is” and that's why “We is” went out 
of business because Wegmans is a true 21st century grocery store.  I have so many comments I don't 
have time to do it.  But let's just use God's not making no more land.  Utilities are not a concern, they’re 
an opportunity.  Thirty years no public water and sewer, with the exact same HOA documents as in Falls 
Run and wherever else.  This developer is 21st century savvy; come on, Central Park, all the jobs, the 
conference center, tear down a golf course.  Holy smokes!  And they charge rent for someone who 
comes back to the golf course?  And then you wonder why they go out of business?  Hmmmm.  Just 
amazing.  Let's see… I'm gonna go to the clubhouse, the gym, the pool, and the paths.  Tomorrow night 
we're playing Texas Hold'em poker.  It's what senior citizens do!  We host!  We're not waiting to die.  
And as far as affordable housing, that's what you should be approving.  Retirees don't need affordable 
housing and I'm not gonna listen to some 30-something, 40-something who came here in the 70s when 
the population was 30,000 people and then it doubled in the 90s to 61,000 people, and then it doubled in 
2010 to 128,961 people.  Merry Christmas. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Waldowski.  Would anyone else like to come down and speak?  Okay, 
seeing no one coming to the podium, I am NOT going to close the public hearing, we're going to leave it 
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open because I do sympathize I think with Alane and several others who have mentioned the fact that it 
was advertised in December and it's near the holidays, a lot of people aren’t here.  So I do think it would 
be fair to leave the public hearing open and advertise it for a future date.  So, we'll bring it back to the 
Commission with the public hearing left open.  Yes, Ms. McClendon? 
 
Ms. McClendon:  Applicant’s rebuttal? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yes, I know.  And so now we have the applicant who can come up and answer any 
questions that they heard in the public hearing.  And then I'm sure we'll have some more questions for 
staff.  So Brian, get ready.   
 
Mr. Hornung:  I'm gonna wait until the next meeting to respond to the bulk of the questions.  I did hear 
one from Martha - I did not get her last name - that… Newton? okay… that I think is appropriate to 
address now.  Some of the others I'm not certain.  I think it's part of a greater response for the project as 
a whole that will come out more in the next meeting.  When the County decided to build the reservoir 
where they did, it was at the intersection of those two roads right at the end of Greenbank.  Ultimately, 
the County, when they located it there, they had two options; one, make it available from both streets or 
have it available from one street.  One of those streets is currently a private street, which is the road that 
we had proposed to close.  When we went to the County and told them we plan to close that road, what 
we heard from the Utilities Department was the Celebrate Virginia Parkway access was a better access 
for them for their trucks and their vehicles and for the public at large in the greater County to visit the 
park.  And that their preference was that that be the primary access way to the park… to the reservoir.  
So that is currently what is proposed and what is planned, and that residents that do live on Greenbank 
under that scenario would need to go back up to Banks Ford Parkway and come down Celebrate 
Virginia Parkway to get to the project.  We had looked at other… trying to figure out other options.  But 
short of giving certain members of the community a pass to get through and others not, it was nearly 
impossible to only… to provide severing that connection for transportation purposes and still have it 
open for public use from both directions.  So, I'm willing to talk to Ms. Newton a little bit more after this 
but that's… that's what occurred and if you all want us to provide more information between now the 
next meeting we're happy to continue that discussion. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, thank you.  Alright, do we have some questions that we want to ask Mr. Geouge?   
 
Mr. English:  I think he got the list of them (inaudible) right now. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yep.  Any others? 
 
Mr. Randall:  I'm sorry I have one more for this… for the developer that I… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Oh, for the applicant? 
 
Mr. Randall:  The applicant, sorry. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay.  Just when you thought you were done. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Just when you thought you were done.  Were there any… were there any other 
recreational amenities besides golf courses that were looked at to put in that area, or if there were, could 
you describe what you went through and what you looked at and why those weren’t viable options to be 
put into the recreational business community? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  The original vision was that the recreation would be the golf courses.   
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Mr. Randall:  So there was nothing else… once the golf courses did… once they didn't do very well or 
ended up closing, were there any other decisions, processes that you looked at to put in other 
recreational amenities in that area? 
 
Mr. Hornung:  For profit non-public… there was recreational uses that are private.  I'm trying to kind of 
run through in my head what those could be beyond the golf.  When we originally proposed the project, 
that was the recreational component.  Three golf courses, private golf courses, open to the public and 
because it was such a large percentage of the project, that's one of the reasons why the project was called 
Recreational Business Campus because it had that recreational component.  There was never envisioned 
to be a, you know, tennis complex or anything like that.  It doesn't mean it couldn't have occurred had 
the market supported it had we been approached by a private individual who wanted to put in a 
recreational use. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Right, but… 
 
Mr. Hornung:  Or if the County came forward and said this would be a great place for a soccer complex 
I think we would have been open to all of those.  But, as a developer, the uses on the property were 
entirely demand-driven other than the golf course, which we were able to help finance with the operator 
at that time to put in… 
 
Mr. Randall:  Man, a soccer complex probably would have… if you go to the Rouse Center at any time, 
you’ll (inaudible) what they’re using for their soccer complex.  So, there was nothing else than other 
than the County coming to you.  The developer, you as the applicant, didn't really look at anything else 
other than the golf courses. 
 
Mr. Hornung:  Not in the original concept.  If you look at the RBC and look at the definition of what are 
the types, I think there's things like swimming pools and bocce courts and tennis courts are allowed uses, 
but that was just kind of covering all the potential uses that could come along with in support of a 
project; it was not a specific identified demand that we had at that time.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, we're done with our questions for now and I just wanted to state one more time we 
got the questions for Al and Steven in the minutes so that way people when they go back and read it they 
can see and access all the questions and answers.  Okay?  Perfect.  Mr. English, this is in your district, 
what would you like to do? 
 
Mr. English:  Yes ma'am, in reference to RC17152130, I do recommend that we keep the public hearing 
open due to the fact that this… the holidays and there was some chatter about, you know, didn't think it 
was fair to put that on the agenda like that and not give people the opportunity to talk.  So, I'm making a 
reference to defer to February 27th.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, we have a motion on the floor to defer till February 27th, keeping the public hearing 
open.  Do we have a second? 
 
Mr. Randall:  I second that. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Second by Commissioner Randall.  Any discussion Mr. English? 
 
Mr. English:  No, it's February 27, 2019. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Twenty-seventh, yep, did I say that?  Okay, February 27, 2019.  Mr. Randall? 
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Mr. Randall:  No. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Any other comments?  Alright, let's vote.  The motion carries 6-0 with one absent.  Thank 
you guys very much.  Now moving on to item number 2 on the agenda, the rezoning reclassification for 
the Market at Embrey Mill, and for this we're gonna recognize Mr. Geouge to present items 2 and 3 
together. 
 
2. RC18152466; Zoning Reclassification - Market at Embrey Mill - A proposed zoning 
reclassification from the PD-2, Planned Development-2 Zoning District to the B-2, Urban Commercial 
Zoning District on a 0.67-acre portion of Tax Map Parcel No. 29-53B; and to amend proffered 
conditions in the B-2 Zoning District on Tax Map Parcel Nos. 29-72 and 29-72B (collectively, the 
Property).  The Property is located on the northeast corner of the intersection of Courthouse Road and 
Mine Road, within the Garrisonville Election District.  (Time Limit:  March 29, 2019) 
 
3. CUP18152477; Conditional Use Permit - Market at Embrey Mill - A proposed Conditional Use 
Permit to allow a drive-through facility associated with a pharmacy use in the B-2, Urban Commercial 
Zoning District on Tax Map Parcel No. 29-72 (Property).  The Property consists of 15.86 acres, located 
on the northeast corner of the intersection of Courthouse Road and Mine Road, within the Garrisonville 
Election District.  The Property is subject to a concurrent reclassification and proffer amendment 
request.  (Time Limit:  March 29, 2019) 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Good evening again Madam Chairman, members of the Commission.  This request is to 
reclassify from the PD-2, or Planned Development-2, Zoning District to the B-2, Urban Commercial 
Zoning District and to amend proffered conditions in a B-2 District, and also a conditional use permit for 
a drive-through facility associated with a supermarket, on Tax Map Parcel Nos. 29-72, 72B, and 53B, 
consisting of 17.3 acres in total.  The applicant is Tom Haller with Barnett Properties.  The owner is 
North Stafford Associates.  This is in the Garrisonville District.  The property is located at the northeast 
corner of the intersection of Courthouse and Mine Road.  The area proposed to be rezoned from PD-2 to 
B-2 is shown in blue and consists of 0.67 acre.  The area subject to the proffer amendment is shown in 
red and consists of 16.63 acres.  The conditional use permit for a drive-through would apply to the large 
parcel designated as 29-72.  The surrounding property includes PD-2 zoned undeveloped land to the east 
and the north, A-1 and A-2 zoned single-family lots to the west and south.  The B-2 portion of the 
property was a rezoned in 2015 with proffers.  The envisioned development at that time is shown here.  
The plan included a grocery store, 3 multi-tenant buildings, and 3 restaurants, 2 of which included a 
drive-through facility.  In total there was 103,770 square-foot of development proposed.  Proposed 
access points included a right-in only on Courthouse Road shown here, a right-in/right-out on Mine 
Road, and a full service access on the future proposed Sunflower Drive located here.  And this would be 
an inter-parcel access which would also provide access to the future commercial development as part of 
the larger Embrey Mill development.  Here's an aerial view the property.  There's been no development 
on the property to date.  The property is mostly wooded and includes one vacant single-family dwelling 
up next to Courthouse Road.  There's also an access road which was utilized for the construction of 
Mine Road.  This image depicts the current proposed layout for the development.  This layout includes 
some development within the area currently zoned PD-2, which I will highlight here.  Basically 
everything on this end of the development, that's currently zoned PD-2.  And this is the reason that the 
applicant is requesting a portion of the property be rezoned to B-2.  The current plan includes a grocery 
store anchor use with similar square footage compared to the originally proposed grocery store.  But it's 
in a different location.  The store would also feature a drive-through pickup window for an in-store 
pharmacy which is located here on the south side of the building.  This drive-through is the subject of 
the requested conditional use permit.  Three multi-tenant buildings are proposed; one adjoining the 
grocery store, and then two others.  No standalone restaurants or other drive-through uses are proposed 
with the revised GDP.  In total, the proposed development would include around 74,000 square-foot of 
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building space.  Most access points would remain the same as previously proposed; however, an 
additional right-in/right-out access point is proposed on Sunflower Drive, and this is the primary reason 
for the proffer amendment request because the current proffers limit access to the 3 entrances as detailed 
previously.  The proffers include commitments to construct the portion of Sunflower Drive as shown 
here, which is a four-lane section of road.  The future extension of Sunflower Drive out to Austin Ridge 
Drive would occur with the future development of the Embrey Mill Commercial area.  Proffers also 
include commitments to construct turn lane and entrances, to construct a left and right turn lane for 
traffic on Mine Road getting onto Courthouse Road, and also to perform signal warrant analysis at the 
intersection of Mine and Sunflower and at the intersection of the main entrance on Sunflower.   
 
Mr. McPherson:  Brian, can ask you a quick question?  Can you go back to the previous slide? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Sure. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  So, on Mine Road where you… that top oblong blue circle, Mine Road is divided at 
that point, it has a division.  Are they going to be taking out that division with the plants and all that to 
create the turns? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  They would be cutting into a portion of the median I believe, but there would still be a 
division there. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Okay, so the median would just be taken away for that one part of the turn. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  That's correct. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Okay, thank you.   
 
Mr. Geouge:  One other thing… a couple other things I didn't mention.  The amended proffers would 
add a requirement to install 8-foot sidewalks on Sunflower Drive on both sides; that wasn't previously 
proposed.  The main point of access on Sunflower Drive would be shifted to the south slightly… I mean, 
sorry, to the east slightly compared to what was previously proposed.  And this is to allow space for a 
50-foot buffer which is required in the PD-2 zoning district.  The district requires a 50-foot buffer 
around the entire district so that would allow space for that.  And you also notice that the buildings are 
oriented inwards here with the rear of the building and the loading spaces facing the adjacent roadways.  
And the applicant is proposing some dense landscaping in this area to help screen the rear of these 
buildings from the road.  And the proffers, I should note, would still allow flexibility in the uses located 
at the site and the layout of the site; however, a site plan for this particular layout has been submitted 
and is currently under review.  The applicant has indicated there's some urgency with the proposed 
development plan which is why they have proceeded with site plan review concurrently with the 
requested reclassification and CUP.  And also, there are no development plans for the residual pieces of 
this parcel which are on the opposite side of Mine Road and Sunflower Drive. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Brian, while you have that up… 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. Bain:  … I'm a little confused about traffic movement.  If I'm in the Courthouse and I want to go to 
that grocery store, Courthouse would be at the bottom of the screen somewhere and I would be coming 
up… yeah, I would be coming up Courthouse Road and could turn into the parking area and go to the 
grocery store. 
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Mr. Geouge:  That's correct. 
 
Mr. Bain:  How would I get back onto Courthouse Road to go, I'm saying south… I don't know if the… 
 
Mr. Geouge:  East or west. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Okay, whichever direction is down on this drawing.  How would I get back on there?  You 
can't… the driveway on Sunflower is right-in/right-out only, so I couldn't turn left and get up to Mine 
Road.  The exit just to the… above the supermarket has a median strip there so I couldn't turn left onto 
Mine Road there.  What would be my option to get back on to Courthouse Drive and come down? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Really, the only option here is to exit out the main side entrance on Sunflower, left on… 
 
Mr. Bain:  So, I’d have to come all the way down there… 
 
Mr. Geouge:  … Sunflower Drive… yes and… 
 
Mr. Bain:  … then come all the way back up. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Left on Mine, yes. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Wow. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Now, that could change in the future with the development of the other area and Embrey 
Mill.  There could be additional access points on the east side here, which would allow easier flow out 
for westbound Courthouse Road.  There could be some entrances there that would allow exiting out to 
Courthouse.  Or, for eastbound, once this connection is completed, it’d probably be a lot easier to 
continue on… take a right on Sunflower or a right out on one of these other access points and go down 
to Austin Ridge Drive and take a right and then a left on Courthouse. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Okay.  Yeah, I'm not familiar with the area so I don't know how they're all gonna connect. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Brian, didn't you say they were going to be cutting part of that median so they could 
use that top entrance and exit to… 
 
Mr. Randall:  Isn't that a right-in/right-out right there? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  This is a right-in/right-out. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Right. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Oh, so they’re not cutting the median? 
 
Mr. Randall:  No, it's a right-in/right-out. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Alright, thank you. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  This is a closer look at the drive-through facility located at the south side of the 
supermarket.  So, access to this would most likely be from the front of the building where vehicles 
would turn in either along the front or if they're coming off Courthouse Road they could take a left into 
here, and then they would come down and do a U-turn into the drive-through.  The drive-through would 
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include a dedicated bypass lane, and it would have to have 150 feet of stacking as required by code.  
Also, it's possible that the vehicles could enter from the rear of the building when they turn off of Mine 
Road into the property.  The Comprehensive Plan designates this property within the Courthouse 
Planning Area and Targeted Residential Growth Area.  The more detailed land-use plan for the 
Courthouse Planning Area designates the property mostly within the mixed-use commercial residential 
land use shown in purple here.  A small portion is within the residential land use shown in yellow.  Staff 
finds the proposal is consistent with the Comp Plan recommendations and policies, and would be 
compatible with adjacent planned uses.  For transportation, a Traffic Impact Analysis was not provided 
or required for this application because the proposed development would result in reduced vehicle trips.  
The previously proposed development consisting of 103,000 square feet included an estimated 12,156 
vehicles per day, 655 in the AM peak hour, about 1,000 in the PM peak hour.  The current proposed 
development would be 74,000 square feet roughly with an estimated volume of 9,000 per day, 546 in the 
AM, 886 in the PM.  As for the design, new architectural renderings have been provided.  The proposed 
proffers and CUP conditions would require general conformance with the renderings shown here.  This 
top one is of the supermarket with the drive-through facility shown on the left.  And the bottom one is an 
example of one of the multi-tenant buildings.  These renderings are consistent with the County's 
Neighborhood Design Standards.  And here's another rendering of the grocery store and drive-through 
facility.  The proposed proffer revisions include revisions to revise the area to which the proffers would 
apply, to include the small PD-2 to B-2 rezoning area; to permit an additional point of access on 
Sunflower Drive, a right-in/right-out access; would require the construction of an 8-foot with sidewalk 
along Sunflower Drive; and just more housekeeping items, clarifying certain requirements and removing 
proffers which have already been satisfied.  The CUP conditions would allow for one single-lane drive-
through, with a bypass lane required, and would require that the canopy styles and materials be 
consistent with the renderings.  Staff finds the positives are this is consistent with the land use 
recommendations in the Comp Plan; consistent with established development patterns; architectural 
treatment is consistent with the Neighborhood Design Standards Plan; and proposed proffers and CUP 
conditions would help mitigate impacts.  And no negative aspects are noted.  Finally, we're 
recommending approval of both the reclassification application and the conditional use permit 
application pursuant to Ordinance O18-50 and Resolution R18-306.  And I'll take any questions. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Geouge.  Any questions from the Commission?  No questions?  That's a 
first.  Alright, thank you.  Would the applicant like to come and address the Commission? 
 
Mr. Haller:  Good evening members of the Planning Commission.  My name is Tom Haller; I'm with 
Barnett Properties.  We are a development company based in Henderson, North Carolina.  Barnett 
properties, as I mentioned, is based in Henderson; we have a Raleigh office.  And just a little bit about 
who we are, since our inception in 1972, we have developed over 30 retail shopping centers in the 
southeast.  Among those include two enclosed malls, but that's not really what we do anymore.  Those 
were done by our founder who is now 91 and still riding herd over us.  But what our niche is, is grocery 
anchored shopping center development.  And, in fact, that's exactly what the Market at Embrey mill is 
and we're pleased to be here in front of you today to let you know that we have a commitment from a 
multi-regional high-end grocery chain whose name has to be kept under confidence right now because 
of our agreement with it, but the anchor is committed and is very, very interested in getting this store 
open.  We have agreed to a tentative delivery of December 2020; hopefully weather won't hold us up.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  If it ever stops raining. 
 
Mr. Haller:  Yes, correct.  The grocery store itself is 48,000 square feet.  It's their standard prototype.  
We're also proposing, as Brian said, three ancillary small shops, buildings that will house typical 
convenience uses found in a grocery anchored center.  You know, in addition to the substantial tax base 
we're bringing with this development, creation of jobs, we feel like well we know the grocery store is 
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100 to 110 full and part-time jobs, as well as the small shops will bring in additional hundred jobs.  We 
think really the key aspect and the key asset here is that we're providing a needed service in an 
underserved area of the market where the customer has to drive elsewhere for groceries, three miles to 
the north, three miles to the south.  We feel like as a result, bringing this is something the community 
will really appreciate hopefully.  We think it is a first-class… we know it's a first-class user and we hope 
to bring you a first-class development.  In short, we think it's needed and will be viewed as a substantial 
asset.  Our development team is here tonight to answer any technical questions.  We have our civil 
engineer as well as our project architectural consultant.  And so we are here to answer specific questions 
and I will intentionally leave my comments to that.  Thank you again for hearing us. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you so much.  Do we have any questions for the applicant or do we want to move 
forward to the public hearing? 
 
Mr. English:  Public hearing. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yeah?  Okay.  Alright, with that then we'll open up the public hearing on the conditional 
use permit and the rezoning reclassification for the Market at Embrey Mill.  If you'd like to come down 
and speak, you have 3 minutes.  When the red light comes on, please conclude your comments.  Does 
anybody want to… I know Paul does.  Anybody else?   
 
Mr. Waldowski:  I’m dressed up as the true Grinch this time.  Welcome.  Paul Waldowski.  This project 
is in the gerrymandered Garrisonville District citizens.  Be aware if you get a contract with Lydell and 
Target; they'll deliver to senior citizens like me.  Now, I know you don't want to give away what the 
grocery store is but, if it's not Wegmans, then this should be denied, because We-is is obviously a 
failure; Giant has remodeled; Shoppers gives military discounts on Mondays; Target I already covered; 
and Walmart has pickups.  Just so you know, I'm a New Yorker, I'm not from the Commonwealth of 
Virginia but I do call North Carolina Baja Virginia; that's lower Virginia.  No offense of course.  CUPs 
are favoritism.  I do not believe you should be favored.  I don't really care that staff says that this is in 
the Comp Plan.  The Comp Plan is out of date.  The divergent diamond comes right through 630 and any 
kind of development in Embrey Mill, if you can't go three miles then get Lydell to deliver it for you or 
get Target.  It's real simple - three miles is nothing.  So, what you're proposing, welcome to Stafford 
County; 128,961 is the 2010 population.  I love when all you applicants come up and you tell me that 
it… you think it's needed.  You know, thinking’s a great thing but your subjective.  I know it's not 
needed.  I've been an activist for 25 years.  I know the development that's in here and that's why you saw 
in the map the PD-2.  They ripped down the land, killed my cicadas - I'm the chairman of the 2030 
cicadas in Stafford County if you didn't know that.  I'm the selected chairman.  You know, they get in a 
back room just like they do for the Board of Supervisors.  That's how we get one every year.  I don't 
know what happens with the Planning Commissioner but… just thought I’d bring that up.  Drive-
throughs are just amazing.  They're no good, they create U-turns.  U-turns are creating aspect and for 
those of you on the Planning Commission don't know about Courthouse Road, it's a State Road 630.  It 
goes east and west.  It is overcrowded with traffic and even when I come here, like I told you when I 
first started, I followed one of the sheriff's animal control vehicles and I got here just barely in time. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Waldowski.  Would anyone else like to come?  Okay, seeing none, we'll 
close the public hearing.  Would the applicant like to respond or speak again?  Okay.  Any other 
questions from the Commission?  Mr. Bane, go ahead.  Who’s your question to?  Is it staff or the 
applicant? 
 
Mr. Bain:  Possibly Brian then. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay. 
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Mr. Bain:  I suspect he knows the answer at least so.  I'm just curious - Sunflower Drive, as far as it’s 
associated with this development will only go to that second driveway where the two remote stores are?  
So it won't go all the way to Austin Ridge Drive as part of this development? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Not as part of this development, correct. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Okay, alright.  I just wanted to clarify that, thank you. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Madam Chairman, I have one quick question. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Sure, Mr. Randall? 
 
Mr. Randall:  Brian, do you know how many parking spots were included in their site plan? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I don't know off the top of my head. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I’d have to look at the GDP. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  When was the site plan submitted?   
 
Mr. Geouge:  Probably a couple months ago. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So before October 31st?   
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yeah, I think the new standards will apply. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Will apply?   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  If it's not… if we don't change… if we don't grandfather it. 
 
Mr. Randall:  That was my… that was my second question was to see whether or not the new standards 
for dimensions will apply in this case. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I believe they do.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So, when was… do you know when your site plan was submitted? 
 
Mr. Randall:  If you can speak to that, that's fine.  I don't want to put Brian on the spot if you can speak 
to it. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Come on down. 
 
Mr. Haller:  In view of the new parking ordinance, we have… I’ll start by saying our anchor is hugely 
sensitive about their parking field and they have to have it work.  So, we took a look at your new 
ordinance and we increased the size of our parks.  You can see on the site plan they’re diagonals as per 
our anchor’s requirement, and we exceed the number.  I think we are showing… 372?  272?... Okay, in a 
nutshell, I don't have my number in front of me, but we exceed the parking requirement by I think two 
spaces. 
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Ms. Vanuch:  So, the new requirement is not going to be an issue for you. 
 
Mr. Haller:  No. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, we wanted to make sure that wouldn't tie up the site plan, that was the whole… I 
think that was the point of this question.  That happens often. 
 
Mr. Haller:  And I can say that we have just come to that conclusion by moving around some parking.  
We have not gotten our anchor to check off on it but we feel it will.  But literally this happened 
yesterday so, as of today, we're saying yes we can meet that without hardship. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Alright.  I'm a big proponent of diagonal ins-and-outs, that's a good thing.  So, alright, 
thank you very much.  That's all I have.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay.  Any other questions from the Commission?  Okay, Mr. Randall, this is in your 
district, what would you like to do tonight? 
 
Mr. Randall:  Yes, I move that we approve the rezoning classification RC18152466 and the 
CUP18152477. 
 
Mr. English:  Second. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, do we…?  We need to separate those; can we do just one at a time?  
 
Mr. Randall:   Oh… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Just one at a time, because Ms. McClendon said we have to separate them. 
 
Mr. Randall:  We have to separate them?   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  She just looked at me and said separate them so. 
 
Ms. McClendon:  Please separate your motions; the reclassification and CUP are separate. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Not a problem. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Don't argue with the attorneys. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Alright, what do we need to do now that it’s been seconded?  Do we need to just… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  No, just amend your motion. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay, I'd like to amend my motion so that we… I’d like to move then that we approve 
rezoning classification for the Market at Embrey Mill, RC18152466. 
 
Mr. English:  Second. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, so now we have a motion and a second to approve RC18152466, the rezoning 
classification for the Market at Embrey Mill.  Any discussion Mr. Randall? 
 
Mr. Randall:  No. 
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Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. English? 
 
Mr. English:  No ma’am. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Anyone else on the Commission?  Alright, go ahead and vote.  Motion carries 6-0.  Now, 
Mr. Randall, what would you like to do on item number 3? 
 
Mr. Randall:  I'd like to move that we approve conditional use permit 18152477 for the Market at 
Embrey Mill. 
 
Mr. English/Mr. McPherson:  Second/second. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, so we have a motion by Mr. Randall and a second by Mr. English and also Mr. 
McPherson, but we'll go with Mr. English I heard first to approve the conditional use permit for the 
Market at Embrey Mill.  Any discussion anyone? 
 
Mr. Randall:  Just a quick note. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. Randall. 
 
Mr. Randall:  I think this is long-overdue. I'm excited that this is going to be there.  I think this has a 
significant amount of use and value for those residents in that Embrey Mill.  In fact, depending on the 
store you'll get a lot of people coming from a lot more than Embrey Mill, so I think this is a good thing. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Randall.  Anyone else?  Alright, with that go ahead and vote.  I'm just 
waiting on it to pop up.  Okay, the motion carries 6-0.  Okay, congratulations guys; thank you for 
coming out tonight.  Now we're moving on to item number 4, the Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance, 
TDR, the Transfer of Development Rights.  For this we recognize Ms. Blackburn.  This is not the first 
time we've talked about this so, if you want to hit the high points and what we've followed up on. 
 
4.  Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance (Transfer of Development Rights) - Proposed Ordinance 
O18-34 would amend the Zoning Ordinance, Stafford County Code, Sec. 28-359, “Calculation of 
development rights,” and Sec. 28-364, “Development approval procedures,” to clarify that eligible lots 
of less than five acres in size without an existing single-family dwelling are entitled to transfer at least 
one development right, and to modify the development approval procedures required to use transferred 
development rights by allowing the transferred rights to be affixed to the receiving property prior to final 
plat or site plan.  (Time Limit:  December 21, 2018) 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Good evening Madam Chairman, Planning Commissioners.  This is an ordinance 
amendment concerning the Transfer of Development Rights and it concerns two sections of the code.  
The first is Section 28-359 and this is a calculation of development rights.  And the amendment is to 
clarify that eligible lots are entitled to transfer at least one development right.  And the second section of 
the ordinance is Section 28-364, development approval procedures.  And this is to change the timing for 
the landing transfer development rights from preliminary plan to final plat approval.  And the TDR 
program was established in 2015 and it was due to a citizen's request for amendments to the ordinance.  
And the Board of Supervisors referred these amendments to the PC in August of 2018.  The Planning 
Commission discussed at meetings in September and October and the amendments may be considered as 
two separate issues.  Currently, development right applications require engineered calculations for 
determination of rights.  And questions have arisen regarding the guarantee of one development right for 
an existing lot.  Amendments would clarify one right for lots under 5 acres regardless of steep slopes or 
hydric soil limitations, which is part of the stipulations within determining that such things.  And 
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amendment number two currently, development rights may be affixed to property in receiving areas at 
the time of preliminary plan review.  Revising… or preliminary plan approval.  Revising ordinances 
would change process two that have this occur at the final plat stage.  And this will allow contractual 
owners to have approval of preliminary plans prior to purchase of development rights.  And this is a map 
of the sending and receiving areas, and they… the receiving areas outlined in red and the sending areas 
outlined in black, I think, or is it blue.  This shows the sending areas that are allowed to do this and they 
are the crossed hatched areas.  And these are the receiving areas and you can see the legend down there 
saying where the receiving areas are and what properties aren't ineligible to receive some stuff.  And this 
is the approved TDR application parcels and these are mostly in the Crow's Nest Harbor parcels.  And as 
you can see, it says 61 parcels remaining which are white and 10 parcels may contain one acre of land of 
usable area.  And all applications today are 297 parcels consisting of 1,048 acres with 501 development 
rights.  And most of these, as you can see by the numbers, are in the Crow’s Nest Harbor area.  And 
these are the environmental constraints, as I said, which were part of the review area for how 
development rights are conducted or determined.  And what has happened is the multiple parcel owners, 
as you can see, are quite… they have quite larger areas than the individual lot owners.  And this is where 
part of the one lot per right occurs.  And the TDR application review process consists of determination 
of development rights, severance of development rights, the transfer or sale of development rights, and 
affixing development rights to eligible receiving property and/or extinguishing development rights.  And 
in determining of development rights, the application includes certificate of title, chain of title, legal 
description, map of hydric soils and steep slopes, as the map showed how much that is involved in all of 
this, and required calculations by the engineer.  And the Director of Planning reviews and issues the 
signed determinations.  And here is just a sample of how you would go about to do all the calculations 
with a total acreage, how much is in hydric soils, amount in steep slopes, road easements, and it goes on 
with the different mathematical things to be allowed to get… end up with a hundred, in this case 
showing 145 development rights.  And the recommendation is that staff had received requests for 
separate consideration of the ordinance amendments, an additional request for modification to Section 
28-364(a) and the Planning Commission can modify the draft language.  And the time limit for the 
Planning Commission to make a recommendation is December 21, 2018.  And do we have any 
questions? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Any questions on the left here?  Any questions on the right?  I think my only comment is 
I… well never mind, I'll wait till after.  Never mind, go ahead; you’re good. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Alright, since there's no applicant we'll move forward now with the public hearing.  If 
anyone would like to come down to speak on the Transfer of Development Rights Amendment to the 
Zoning Ordinance, please come down and you can have your 3 minutes.  When the red light comes on 
please conclude your comments.   
 
Mr. Waldowski:  Paul Waldowski.  I don't need to give my address anymore because people know 
where I live.  Wow!  I wish you would have spoke because then I would have done my Lincoln-Douglas 
debate and I take either side.  As you know, I will argue about anything with anyone.  I wish I would 
have looked at my notes.  I used to have an acronym for TDRs, because I did a speech I think in 2015 
and when I researched TDRs in the United States, they were designed in New York City and that's how 
Central Park came about.  And the Crow's Nest is just people who bought parcels there.  Let's be honest 
- they were just dumb investors.  That's just the way it is.  So what do they do as a recourse?  They come 
through County government, try to get some kind of amendment, and try to get favoritism, so they can 
cut their losses.  And as you can see, a lot of them have done it and run away.  The calculations are so 
complex, it's unbelievable how complex they are.  I mean, I have an engineering background and steep 
slopes and hydric soils?  Come on.  They're all over Virginia.  And as you know, I am so anti-
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development and I only buy the best property at the best price because I'm like the guy on Shark Tank, 
you know, Kevin, Mr. Wonderful.  I'm out to make money. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you Mr. Waldowski.  Would anyone else like to come down?  With that, I'll close 
the public hearing and bring it back to the Planning Commission to ask any questions if they have any.  
Does anybody have any questions?  I just have one and just to solidify.  I think it's on the first section, I 
think it was on your one of your very first slides and it was the section that talked about giving one 
development right.  Essentially it doesn't matter how many hydric soils or deep slopes are on the 
property.  Does that basically mean that if you really… if the person who owns the land couldn't have 
built a house anyway, that now we're giving them one development right? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  I think Mr. Harvey will be able to give more detail. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Madam Chairman, it does not necessarily mean that they couldn't build a house on that 
property; it just means they're not eligible for TDR under the way the ordinance is currently written.  
With normal development, if someone can find a drainfield in these rural sending areas, they can pretty 
much build a house.  So, if you have some areas where steep slopes exist, you can still find a drainfield 
in that slope area.  Some parts of steep slopes are steeper than others, but some of it also depends on the 
underlying soil that supports it.  So there is a possibility that someone could build a house in an area 
where there's steep slopes.  Hydric soils are more problematic because their typical with high water 
tables, but there are other types of systems like mound systems that may be able to be accommodated 
under certain conditions.  So it's not a guarantee that a lot that's not eligible for TDR cannot be built on. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, thank you.  Any other questions?  Alright. 
 
Mr. English:  Madam Chairman, I’d like to make a motion to break these into two parts.  I’d like to 
make a motion to break apart O18-34 into two parts.  So the first one I like to vote to deny Section 28-
359(B). 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Second. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, so we have a motion a second.  I just want to confirm with Ms. McClendon we can 
take that motion all in one, right, breaking it apart and then denying the first part? 
 
Ms. McClendon:  Yes, you can make recommendations for two separate parts. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, perfect.  So, we have a motion by Commissioner English, a second by Mr. 
McPherson.  Any comment Mr. English? 
 
Mr. English:  No ma'am. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. McPherson?  Anyone else?  Okay, you want to go ahead and vote, and this is a 
motion to deny the first section.  Motion carries 6-0. 
 
Mr. English:  Madam Chairman, I'd like to make a motion to approve Section 28-364(a) and (b). 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Second again.  
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay.  Motion by Commissioner English, second by Commissioner McPherson.  Any 
comment Commissioner English? 
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Mr. English:  No ma'am. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Commissioner McPherson?  Anyone else?  Alright, go ahead and vote.  Motion carries 6-
0.  Okay, moving on to item number 5 on the agenda which is an Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance 
for willful revocation of a conditional use permit due to non-compliance, and for this we recognize Ms. 
Blackburn again. 
 
5. Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance - Proposed Ordinance O18-44 would amend the Zoning 
Ordinance, Stafford County Code, Sec. 28-185, “Conditional use permits,” to remove the term “willful” 
from the standard for revocation of a conditional use permit due to noncompliance.  (Time Limit:  
February 22, 2019) 
 
Ms. Blackburn:   Madam Chairman, Planning Commissioners, this is for an amendment to the County 
Code Section 28-185(F), which describes the terms when Boards of Supervisors can revoke a 
conditional use permit.  And that provision stipulates that the permit can be revoked for willful non-
compliance, and this is non-compliance with the Zoning Ordinance and any conditions imposed by the 
Board on the conditional use permit.   The willful non-compliance standard is not defined in the county 
or state codes, and clear terms of when a CUP can be revoked helps the Board, staff, and public to 
understand the ramifications of the violations of the terms of a CUP.  And willful non-compliance is a 
higher standard than non-compliance.  And also it may be difficult for the Board to determine willful 
non-compliance in cases where property has been leased to multiple tenants over time with varying 
violations.  The term also implies that an understanding of a violator’s intent to abate or not abate a 
violation.  An intent is more difficult to determine than observed actions.  Now, during the discussion by 
the Board's Community and Economic Development Committee, it was requested that peer counties be 
surveyed for their practices in revoking special use permits, and that information was included in your 
packet and it just listed the peer counties and how they handled this situation in their zoning ordinances.  
The Board voted on this in November to refer it to the Planning Commission for your review and 
recommendation after conducting a public hearing.  And proposed Ordinance O18-44 removes the term 
willful from the provisions of revoking a conditional use permit, and by revoke… removing such a word 
the provisions for revocation are clearer and more understandable by the Board, staff, and public, and 
makes the process more transparent.  And staff recommends the Planning Commission vote to forward 
proposed Ordinance O18-44 to the Board with a recommendation of approval.  Do you have any 
questions? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:   Thank you.  Any questions for Ms. Blackburn before we open up the public hearing?  
No?  Okay, great.  Alright, so now we'll go ahead and open up the public hearing. if you'd like to come 
down and speak you have 3 minutes.  You didn't change your clothes this time.   
 
Mr. Waldowski:  Only my mom could do that, sorry.  Paul Waldowski.  Let's start with it says issue, 
colon; it should say opportunity, colon.  There are no issues folks, they're just opportunities.  If you're 
serving the public, you have the ability to um decide if we're gonna be transparent and Lady Justice is 
the only one who's transparent folks.  She wears a blindfold.  When you give a CUP, you favor the left.  
If you get another CUP, you favor the right.  It's real simple; that's called fairness, not favoritism.  Also 
it says that the peer counties.  Wow.  Well, why is it so hard to write that the peer counties be surveyed 
and list.  Is it Fauquier?  Prince William?  King George?  I don't have nothing on the end.  And I don't 
have my computer with me so.  I'm just looking for improvements in the process so all the citizens who 
watch me, because when I come in here, you know, to the courthouse, they all know who I am.  I’m Mr. 
8 Pickett Lane.   
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Ms. Vanuch:  Would anyone else like to come down and address the Commission?   Okay, seeing no 
one else, I'll bring it back to the Commission.  Does anyone have any questions for Ms. Blackburn?  
Okay, seeing no questions, what would the Commission like to do on this item? 
 
Mr. English:  Madam Chairman, I’d like to go ahead and make a motion to approve the amendment. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, so you have a motion to approve… 
 
Mr. Randall:  I’ll second that motion. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  … from Mr. English, a second by Commissioner Randall.  Any comment Commissioner 
English? 
 
Mr. English:  No, I think it's good that we try to be more transparent and then make it clear to the 
citizens and the Board.  It helps, it's a good tool for them so. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Commissioner Randall? 
 
Mr. Randall:  I have no further comments. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Madam Chairman? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. Harvey? 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Point of clarification.  Was the public hearing closed? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Oh, I'm sorry, yes, the public hearing is closed, yes. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  It is now if I didn't close it.  Alright, any other questions or comments from the 
Commissioners before we vote?  None?  Alright, go ahead and vote.  Motion carries 6-0.  Alright, now 
we're gonna move on to item number 8 on the agenda, which is the Stafford Green, a waiver request for 
the subdivision ordinance and for this we recognize Miss LeAnn. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
6. Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance - Proposed Ordinance O18-31 would amend the Zoning 
Ordinance, Stafford County Code, Sec. 28-25, “Definitions of specific terms;”  Sec. 28-33, “Districts 
generally;” Sec. 28-34, “Purpose of districts;” Sec. 28-35, “Table of uses and standards;” Sec. 28-39, 
“Special regulations;” Sec. 28-53, “Planned development districts;” Sec. 28-55, “Planned Development-
2 District (PD-2) regulations;” Sec. 28-56, “Application for planned developments;” and Sec. 28-129 
“Types permitted in commercial and office districts” to redefine the RBC, Recreational Business 
Campus Zoning District to the PD-3, Planned Development-3 Zoning District, and to modify district 
requirements and amend other zoning ordinance provisions accordingly.  (Time Limit:  March 17, 
2019)  (History:  Deferred on September 26, 2018 to October 10, 2018) (Deferred on October 24, 
2018 to December 19, 2018) 
 (Authorize for Public Hearing By:  February 13, 2019) 
 (Potential Public Hearing Date:  March 13, 2019) 
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Discussed after New Business. 
 
7. Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance - Proposed Ordinance O18-37 would amend  the Zoning 
Ordinance, Stafford County Code, Sec. 22-153, “Lots for required buffers;” Sec. 28-25, “Definitions of 
specific terms;” Sec. 28-54, “Planned Development-1 District (PD-1) regulations;” Sec. 28-55, “Planned 
Development-2 District (PD-2) regulations;” Sec. 28-66, “P-TND, Planned Traditional Development;” 
Sec. 28-67, “Falmouth Redevelopment Area Overlay (FR);” Sec. 28-82, “Required buffers;” Sec. 28-83, 
“Buffers for historic properties and districts;” Sec. 28-86, “Landscaping standards;” Sec. 28-88, 
“Screening standards for appurtenances;” and the Design and Construction Standards for Landscaping, 
Screening, and Buffering (DCSL) Manual by Reference.  (Time Limit: March 31, 2019) (History:  
Deferred on November 14, 2018 to December 19, 2018) 
 (Authorize for Public Hearing By:  February 27, 2018) 
 (Potential Public Hearing Date:  March 27, 2019) 
 
Discussed after New Business. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
8. WAI18152526; Stafford Green - A waiver request of the Subdivision Ordinance, Stafford 
County Code, Sec. 22-143, “Shape and elongation,” and Sec. 22-146, “Side Lot Lines,” for the purposes 
of subdividing one lot from Tax Map Parcel No. 36-58F, zoned A-1, Agricultural, located on the west 
side of Mount Olive Road, north of Kellogg Mill Road, within the Hartwood Election District.   
 
Ms. Ennis:  Madam Chairman, members of the Commission, haven't seen y'all in a long time.  So, item 
number 8 is a waiver request for two waivers for shape and elongation and side lot lines for Stafford 
Green, project number 18152526.  It's located on 36-58.  It consists of 15 acres, currently zoned A-1, 
Agricultural.  It's within the Hartwood Election District, and it's located on the west side of Mount Olive 
Road north of Kellogg Mill Road.  This is the site location map and this is the aerial map.  It's 
currently… it's the star and it's surrounded by all residential.  The applicant is seeking to subdivide his 
parcel 36-58F into two lots.  The existing parcel currently has a house and several agricultural 
outbuildings on the property.  The parent parcel is generally square, kind of rectangle.  Creating the 3-
acre parcel would leave the parent parcel that it's currently meets the intent of the subdivision ordinance 
as non-conforming.  Section 22-143(B) of the Subdivision Ordinance states that “lots shall not contain 
odd shape, elongated, and a lot of sides to establish a buildable lot.”  Creating the 3 acres parcels from 
58F leaves the parent parcel with numerous sides and an odd shape like a flag lot to obtain the minimum 
acreage allowed for A-1.  The applicant is proposing to run the property lines along existing features 
located on the property.  It's proposed property lines are to encompass the house, the existing house on 
one parcel, and the other to include the existing outbuildings.  Section 22-146 states that “side lot lines 
shall be at right angles approximately or radial to the street.”  The parent parcel’s side lot lines currently 
meet the intent of the ordinance by being at right angles to the front lot line along Mount Olive Road.  
The proposed 3-acre parcel as shown meets the county code requirements.  Cutting out the 3-acre parcel 
from the parent parcel creates four new sides for the existing, the parent parcel, making it non-
conforming.  So, this is the plat that they're proposing to submit it in.  So, we have an existing house 
here and then we have these outbuildings here… I'm sorry, here are the outbuildings.  This is a proposed 
drainfield here and a proposed drainfield here.  So… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Where's the house again?   
 
Ms. Ennis:  I can’t read it but I think it’s right here.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay.  I see them shaking their heads so that must be yes. 
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Ms. Ennis:  Oh, see?  That was a good guess.  So, there's a fence line by the aerial map.  You can see 
that this line here follows the existing fence line.  This is a driveway that already exists out through here 
that he used… that they use for getting back to this parcel.  This is not part of this; this goes back to this 
area back here.  That's an access easement.  The applicant formally request that the Stafford County 
Planning Commission consider the waiver request for Section 143(a), Shape and elongation, and 146 of 
the side lot lines.  Approving the waiver should not impact any property owners around the area, and the 
applicant is proposing to share the current driveway with both parcels.  Section 22-141, Authority to 
grant states where permitted one or more of the minimum requirements established under the chapter 
may be waived by the Planning Commission upon assurance of the subdivider that each of the following 
had been met.  The minimum requirement, if applied to the proposed subdivision, would impose an 
unreasonable burden upon the subdivider.  The granting of such a waiver will not substantially adverse 
effect the future residents of the proposed subdivision nor upon any property adjoining the proposed 
subdivision.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Questions? 
 
Mr. English:  LeAnn, he owns all that property, right? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  I was trying to go back to the overall. 
 
Mr. English:  He owns all this? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yes, he owns the parcel… there you go… he owns the parcel back here as well.  He is 
selling… 
 
Mr. English:  Excuse me? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  He is selling all three lots. 
 
Mr. English:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  They're currently off the market right now because of the weather and stuff, but he is 
relocating. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Can't get on them because of the wet. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yeah, it’s raining. 
 
Mr. Bain:  So, the proposing… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Hold on, hold… 
 
Mr. Bain:  Oh, I'm sorry. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Hang on.  Are you finished Mr. English?  Okay.  Go ahead Mr. Bain. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Oh, okay, I’m sorry.  The existing driveway, is that going to become a shared use driveway 
or will there be a separate driveway…? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  There's a separate driveway here that comes into the house that already exists.   
 

Page 41 of 60 



Planning Commission Minutes 
December 19, 2018 
 
Mr. Bain:  Ah, okay.   
 
Ms. Ennis:  But there is a… this is already existing as well. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Alright, so that… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  And it really is… it is really… it's all on this parcel.  I think I said it was shared driveway 
but I forgot. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  You did, that's why I was confused. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Sorry, I lied.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So, then each parcel has its own driveway? 
 
Mr. English:  First time back. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yes. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. Randall? 
 
Mr. Randall:  So, the three lots you're talking about, is the smaller one the 12 acres and then the one in 
the back? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  We're only discussing these two lots here. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  This is not part of it at all. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  He just happens to own all of it. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Not a problem.  So, the intent is then to provide the waiver so that he can make one little 
section and then it provides us the waiver for the rest of the section so that it… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yes.  This lot is conforming and stuff.  The parent parcel is conforming, but once he creates 
this lot out, he's creating this lot lines which is making this lot not conforming.   
 
Mr. Randall:  Now, is there gonna be another fence where that… where that driveway is, will there be a 
fence to cut that out?  No? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  No. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay.   
 
Ms. Ennis:  I mean, the owners, if he sells it and wants to put up a fence, you know, he could.   
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay, thank you. 
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Ms. Vanuch:  Can you go back to the slide that talks about what we're allowed and not allowed to do?  
It’s like the regulation I think on section 22-241.  So I've been on the Commission for three years now 
and we've had several of these.  And every time, they get up and they talk about the hardship or what, 
you know, the unreasonable burden for the subdivider.  I haven't heard one of those yet.  Do we have an 
unreasonable burden?  Because it has to meet those two criteria and I have yet to hear criteria number 
one.   
 
Ms. Ennis:  I'm not sure.  I will… I'll let the applicant, if you don't mind, because it's doesn't state 
anything in here. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yeah, it just says a dangerous precedent.  I mean, I understand he wants to subdivide it, 
but we're creating something that's got all kinds of corners and I just know if that's sold to two separate 
people, there is definitely gonna be a land dispute over whose corner is whose eventually.  And I'm just 
curious why something more uniform couldn’t have been created.   
 
Ms. Ennis:  Oh, this straight across.  We had talked… the applicant, he had several things that we 
because we were trying… we had a bunch of waivers to begin with, and we narrowed it down to the two 
to get the acreage because he was going to go straight across and we were going to do it and the lots 
would be more square.  But we couldn't get frontage and then we didn't have… we had issues with 5:1 
lot shape ratio and stuff like that.  But this was… he wanted to follow what he already has existing out 
there, so that was kind of what he went in with. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  But I'll let Mr. Snyder sure fill you in on the rest. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Any other questions?   
 
Mr. Snyder:  Good evening, John Snyder, the owner of 524 Mount Olive Road, as well as 544 Mount 
Olive Road.  We've lived here 36 years.  And looking at our golden years now and retirement… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  You got to see one of the facilities you could move to off Route 17. 
 
Mr. Snyder:  This is the original subdivision of Stafford Green.  It was cut into 8 lots and this was dated 
back in 1977.  I don't know if you can see this but the parent parcel here, which is 30.7 acres, is in 
essence a 30-acre pipestem from 1977.  It has a 60-foot ingress/egress easement… not ingress/egress 
easement, it is a 60-foot right-of-way back to this parcel.  About 20 years ago this 15-acre parcel became 
available, so we purchased that.  Now when you drive up this existing driveway, you think all of this 
belongs to this 30-acre piece.  It doesn't.  It belongs to this parent 15-acre piece.  What I am attempting 
to do is to cut out the 3-acre piece around the existing house because these barns, etcetera, just appear to 
be a part of the larger piece.  I could have incorporated I suppose a boundary line adjustment to take this 
and make it a part of this 30-acre piece, but then I thought that just gets to be really cumbersome, and in 
doing that and I thought and in discussing it with staff the easiest way to accomplish this is to just cut 
out this 3-acre piece.  If you came out and looked at the property, you would understand I believe what 
I'm attempting to do.  I have no intention of selling three individual pieces.  The way I was initially 
marketing it is the 30-acre piece and a 13-acre piece.  So, it was in essence a 43-acre piece of property 
but it was going to be in two tracts.  I intend to keep the 3-acre piece as a rental property for some 
additional income in my “retirement years.”  So, is there any questions about my intent? 
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Ms. Vanuch:  So, I hear your intent; I still don't hear the hardship because the… 
 
Mr. Snyder:  I mean, ma'am, the hardship is if I cut this piece off and make this a conforming parcel, I in 
essence now still have a non-conforming parcel because I have this right-of-way that is a part of this 
parcel and then I have to create another driveway for this remaining parcel back here.  It just doesn't in 
my opinion logically make sense to do it that away.  And I’m trying to follow all of the existing property 
lines that are there now.  I mean, if you look around, there's a, not that it applies here but, there's a little 
piece back here and a little piece here.  I mean, this is unfortunately something that happened in back in 
1977 and I feel like that I'm being penalized today for trying to adhere to new County standards for that 
that I just don't think should apply here.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, any questions?  Not really.  There's still really no hardship but I got it, okay. 
 
Mr. Randall:  So, based on what you're saying, so that I understand, if you extend… if you extend that 
parcel out more than 3 acres, you're gonna be incorporating that driveway, correct? 
 
Mr. Snyder:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Randall:  And then in order to get to the back piece of land, you would then have to, somebody 
would, you, somebody, would have to… obviously you if you wanted to sell it, you couldn't sell it 
without some way to get back there… you would have to put in a whole new driveway all the way to the 
back parcel. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  There’s already a driveway. 
 
Mr. Snyder:  I suppose… 
 
Mr. Randall:  But if he extends it out to make it conforming, that driveway would be incorporated… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  No, that driveway is an easement, it goes all the way, hmm-mm.  I'm very familiar with it.  
It goes all the way down. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Right, but if he extended that parcel out it would incorporate the driveway into that new 
parcel. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  No, because the driveway is separate. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, any other questions?  Okay, thank you so much. 
 
Mr. Snyder:  My pleasure. 
 
Mr. English:  That’s mine, right? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  It is.  We bring it back to the Commission now; this isn't a public hearing so the public 
doesn't come down to speak.  But, Mr. English, this is in your district, what would you like to do? 
 
Mr. English:  Madam Chairman, I'd like to approve WA, I think it's I18152526. 
 
Mr. Boswell:  Second. 
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Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, so we have a motion by Commissioner English and a second by Commissioner 
Boswell to approve the amendment to the zoning ordinance… oh wait, hold on… the Stafford Green file 
ending in 52526.  Any comment Mr. English? 
 
Mr. English:  No ma’am. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. Boswell?  I think you were the second. 
 
Mr. Boswell:  No ma’am. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Nope?  Anybody else want to comment?  Mr. Bain, are you considering commenting? 
 
Mr. Bain:  I'm just wondering, if the 3-acre parcel was extended… the boundary line was extended south 
to that other driveway that accesses the back parcel, the larger parcel in back, would it be possible for 
that driveway to be used to access the remaining portion of parcel F1.  I guess that's a question for the 
applicant.  As a way to get around… it's a flag lot adjacent, so I'm not worried about the flag lot portion 
of it and I wonder if that would help.  Did I… LeAnn, do you understand what I was trying to do?  You 
wanted to bring the line… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Hold on one second.  Ms. McClendon… hold on, hold on… are we allowed to discuss this 
since there's a motion and a second?  Okay, I just want to make sure.  Go ahead. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  You're asking why he doesn't bring the line all the way across. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  We can't see what you're drawing.  There we go, there we go. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Exactly, exactly. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Right?  Alright.  Well, that was one of our suggestions and the reason why was because then 
that this driveway would be on all this parcel and he would need a private access easement to go to here. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  There's a second driveway that already goes there. 
 
Mr. Bain:  I'm saying that… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  This driveway does not. 
 
Mr. Bain:  … that driveway on the bottom (inaudible)… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  That is not. 
 
Mr. Bain:  … larger parcel in the back… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  That goes back here. 
 
Mr. Bain:  … could it, since he owns both parcels, could that driveway then… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  It would touch both parcels, that driveway would touch both… 
 
Mr. Bain:  … provide access to that second… to the F1 parcel. 
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Ms. Ennis:  You're saying this driveway here? 
 
Mr. Bain:  Yes. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yeah, because it would… I mean, what else does it touch?  What’s in between?  It goes 
right by that parcel. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  It belongs… it's part of, I don't have that overall, but it's part of this parcel.  So, this parcel 
comes down here and has… 
 
Mr. Bain:  Which he owns, which he owns… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Which he owns but it does not… most of time when we do private access easements it goes 
through a parcel to get to a parcel.  But this one is on a different separate parcel, so, you know, it's a 
separate parcel. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  You would just give it deeded access, deeded access to that drive… yeah, deeded access 
to get… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Okay, I was just clarifying that that’s what you all were asking.   
 
Mr. Bain:  Yeah, that's what I was wondering.  Could that, the remaining F1 parcel then have access 
through that driveway? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  There are solutions, which goes to the point that there is no hardship because there's 
alternative solutions.  So… I think we're just trying to get it so he can subdivide it, also follow the rule 
of the law and what we're allowed to approve and not approve. 
 
Mr. Bain:  That's my concern that it could come back to bite us later; the next person that wants to do 
one and wouldn't have a hardship.  Would… if they did what I suggested, would that require a waiver? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  No. 
 
Mr. Randall:  I guess the definition is what's determined to be a hardship.  Are we ready now to 
determine what a hardship is and what it isn't?  So, the hardship I guess would be determined by the 
applicant and, regardless of what we want to determine it to be, you know, it may be any effort to put an 
easement there or to put another access into that driveway, we'd be hardship.  We don't know that so. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  And typically a hardship that you guys have seen has been topography or sight distance or 
something of that nature.  That's what you’re used to seeing, the hardship that, you know, that this 
doesn't have. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Madam Chairman… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. Harvey. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Commissioner Randall, if I could clarify, the code does not reference a hardship.  
Hardships are often thought about in terms of variances from the zoning code.  But, in this case, this is 
an unreasonable burden; that the regulations cause an unreasonable burden on the subdivider.  So, that’d 
be up to the Commission to determine whether you believe that the code, as it stands today, creates an 
unreasonable burden on the subdivider and that’s what warrants the waiver. 
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Ms. Vanuch:  Gotcha. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  I'm super imposing those terms because I think hardship is an unreasonable burden so, my 
apologies.  Unreasonable burden. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  No apology necessary, I just wanted to clarify. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yeah. 
 
Mr. Bain:  That's definitely a different interpretation of what I had in mind so. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Again, here's the reference for the code section for your information.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  I think we looked at this once on a camping RV park in your district.  I think this is prior 
to you being on the Commission, and we had to show where it was a strong unreasonable burden and 
that it was basically costing him business because of what we were requiring.  Anybody else?  Okay, so 
there's a motion on the floor just to remind everyone, and a second, to approve the amendment… to 
approve the Stafford Green waiver request.  The motion was made by Commissioner English, second by 
Commissioner Boswell.  Anybody else have any additional comments?  No?  Alright, go ahead and 
vote.  Okay, motion carries 4-2 with one absent (Ms. Vanuch and Mr. McPherson opposed; Mr. Apicella 
absent).  Alright, moving on to item number 9, Preliminary Subdivision Plan.  For this we also recognize 
you, LeAnn. 
 
9. SUB18152283; Preliminary Subdivision Plan - Celebrate VA, Celebrate Now Retirement - A 
Preliminary Plan to create 44 Retirement Townhouse lots on Tax Map Parcel No. 44W-2, zoned RBC, 
Recreational Business Campus, on 17.91 acres, located on the west side of Celebrate Virginia Parkway 
south of Banks Ford Parkway, within the Hartwood Election District.  (Time Limit:  February 17, 
2019) 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Thank you.  Madam Chairman, members of the Commission, item number 9 is a 
Preliminary Subdivision Plan, subdivision number 18152283 for Celebrate Virginia, Celebrate Now 
Retirement.  It's located on Assessor’s parcel 44W-2.  It's located on the west side of Celebrate Virginia 
Parkway, north of Sanford Drive.  It consists of 6.54 acres and it's zoned RBC, Recreational Business 
Campus, and M-2, Heavy Industrial.  The Election District is Hartwood and it consists of 44 townhouse 
units.  This is the location map of where it is on Celebrate Virginia Parkway.  This is the aerial map and 
you can see that it's surrounded by agricultural, which is A-1… I mean 3-acre and 1-acre lots.  And the 
Del Webb portion of the R-2 cluster within the RBC is south of Celebrate Virginia Parkway.  There is 
RBC apartments to the north of this in the middle of this site, and then the M-2 portion of this property 
is up furthest north.  The total site is approximately 17 acres with a density of 7 dwelling units per acre.  
RBC requires a minimum of 25% open space within the site and an overall of 55% for the entire RBC 
area.  The developer is not proposing any development on the site that is currently zoned M-2.  The 
primary accesses are right here on Celebrate Virginia; they are proposing three.  The streets within the 
property are here, and there are private ingress/egress easements that are going to be maintained by the 
HOA.  There was an exception granted for the street access connections due to the topography and the 
residential developments and the conservation easements that are back in here.  I wanted to point out 
that this is the split; these are apartments in this area and this is the clubhouse area and this is an 
apartment as well.  So the townhouse units that we are looking at for this preliminary plan is to the left 
side of the page.  They didn't have to do a preliminary plan for this because you have to do 51 lots.  It 
was their choice to come in and vest their property.  The property has come served by County water and 
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sewer.  All the townhouses are to be sprinkled.  Again, the clubhouse is at the entrance.  There's 6.5 
acres of conservation easement to the back of the property.  Stormwater management is going to be 
served by bio-filters that are located on the open space areas of the site.  And within just the townhouse 
units itself it'll be 4 acres of open space.  The entire site is like I said 17 acres.  There will be 81 multi-
family units for retirement apartment living, and those will be reviewed by site plan.  That won't be 
coming before you guys; that'll be a site plan requirement.  Upon completion of the entire 17 acres, 
there'll be 10 acres of open space.  Obviously, zoning like I said was… the RBC requires 30%... allows a 
maximum of 30% of retirement housing.  And this this site itself will put it at 29.98, which is still 
underneath the 30% of allotted retirement allowed in the RBC.  And that includes the apartments as 
well, so it's the entire site, that is, the 44 townhouse units and the apartments will put it at 29.98%.  Staff 
recommends approval of the Celebrate Virginia Now Retirement Preliminary Plan.  Is there any 
questions? 
 
Mr. McPherson:  So, it seems to me that everything is meeting the open space requirements… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  … by-right, not going against any zoning or anything in that manner? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Okay. 
 
Mr. English:  This is all going to be retirement, right? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. English:  Are 2-story, 3-story… what are they, the townhouses? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  The townhouse units are 1-story. 
 
Mr. English:  One-story… villas. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  They’re villa units. 
 
Mr. English:  Oh, okay. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  So, they'll probably look like what's in section 33 of Celebrate, which is retirement as well. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So, explain to me why they're bringing this forward to us since it's under 51 homes.   
 
Ms. Ennis:  Just the vest.  They are allowed to vest their property so that makes them that they… it's just 
vesting for the zoning or, I mean, for subdivision. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Just in case we change it to PD-3? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Mm-hmm. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So they wouldn't be able to do this. 
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Ms. Ennis:  Well, it's I don't know, I was not informed that.  They're just allowed to do that.  We allow 
preliminaries at any time.  We can get a 6-lot preliminary.  But that protects them for that current 
subdivision ordinance.  It doesn't protect them against the zoning ordinance, but it does protect… it goes 
underneath today's standards of the subdivision ordinance. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So if it… I guess this might be a question for Mr. Harvey then.  So if, let's say the 
ordinance were to change, the RBC ordinance changes because I think we have that coming up next on 
our agenda, then does that take away their ability to be able to do this? 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Madam Chairman, as Ms. Ennis is referring to, our local ordinance speaks to vested rights 
and there's state code provisions that deal with that as well.  So, if a developer receives an affirmative 
governmental act from the county, such as an approval of a preliminary plan by the Planning 
Commission, and they diligently pursue that plan, they're insulated from changes to the zoning and 
subdivision ordinance to the effect that it would impact their density or intensity of their project.  So, if 
the County was the approve this project tonight and later change the amendments for the RBC zoning 
category that no longer allow them to do as many townhomes, they could still proceed with the 44 that 
are approved tonight provided they diligently pursue the project.   
 
Ms. Ennis:  It protects them against the… I thought it didn’t vest them for zoning, I thought it… did I 
say that wrong? 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Vested rights are a subdivision action but it also has impacts for zoning in that any change 
of the zoning ordinance that would affect their density or intensity of use would not apply in this 
particular case, because they'd have vested rights.  Again, it's a supposition that the owner diligently 
pursues a development, because these plans are only good for a certain period of time based on our local 
ordinance and state code.  So, if the property sits around for 10 years they may lose their vested rights. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Bain? 
 
Mr. Bain:  Looking at the site plan, the only driveway that would allow them to leave the development 
and go north towards 17 is that northernmost driveway? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yeah, this is the opening here so, yeah, they can go this way. 
 
Mr. Bain:  So that's the only one that they can get through…? 
 
Ms. Ennis:  They can come in and go this way and they can only come in and go this way. 
 
Mr. Bain:  That's right, okay. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Because there's a median. 
 
Mr. Bain:  So, basically all the traffic is going to be using that first driveway because at least for another 
five to six years there's nothing to the south for them to go to… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  No sir. 
 
Mr. Bain:  … so… okay. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  If you could just remind me please, the portion to the right-hand side that’s already 
developed, that's all residential, right?  There's no business in there? 
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Ms. Ennis:  This is… this is M-2 over in here but it's vacant. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  No, I'm talking north of the road there, what's already developed. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Up here? 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Nope.  You know the little football shaped development area there on the right-hand 
side?  I see… I think I saw a couple apartment complexes?  Yeah, not the new 44 but just to the right of 
those 44 proposed… 
 
Ms. Ennis:  There’s apartments up in here, up in the… it's on the… let me go back.  These are 
apartments right in here. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Okay.  So, all this RBC is currently just going to residential. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Okay, thank you.  That’s all I wanted to clarify. 
 
Ms. Ennis:  Yes. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Any other questions?  Mr. English? 
 
Mr. English:  No, I'm just ready to call the question on it. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, thank you.  Alright, we'll bring it back to the Commission here.  What do we want 
to do?  I think, Darrell, this might be in your district. 
 
Mr. English:  It is. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Since everything tonight is in your district. 
 
Mr. English:  I make a motion to go ahead and approve SUB18152283. 
 
Mr. Boswell:  Second. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, we have a motion and a second.  Mr. English, any comment? 
 
Mr. English:  No ma'am. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. Boswell? 
 
Mr. Boswell:  No ma’am. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Anyone else?  Mr. McPherson, you look like you might want to say something.  Okay, 
alright.  Okay.  I'll just make a quick comment in the interest of time so I know it's getting late.  I think 
this is sort of an unintended consequence of rezoning the RBC and all the adjacent land to it.  And since 
it's under the 50 threshold, I mean, they're bringing it to us but it doesn't seem like there's really much 
we can do about it quite frankly.  So, I'm gonna begrudgingly vote for it.  Begrudgingly.  Alright, go 
ahead everybody.  Alright, motion carries 6-0.  Moving on backwards in the agenda to the Unfinished 
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Business to item number 6, the Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance for special districts and PD-2 - 
that's the word I was looking for, sorry.  Mr. Geouge, go ahead. 
 
6. Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance  
 
Mr. Geouge:  Good evening again Madam Chairman, members of the Commission.  This is an item that 
you saw back towards the end of October.  This proposed ordinance amendment basically hasn't 
changed since then.  Just to give you another quick overview of the proposal, proposing amendments to 
Chapter 28 of the zoning ordinance to redefine the RBC district to the PD-3, Planned Development-3 
zoning district and to modify requirements.  This is related to the 1,177-unit retirement housing 
development that was presented earlier.  To summarize the request, the applicant has only requested that 
the percent of retirement housing be increased from 30% to 45% and they've also requested that farm 
wineries and agri-tourism uses be permitted in the district.  However, staff felt that it was appropriate to 
consider other more comprehensive amendments with this with the applicant’s requests, and we're 
proposing that it be appropriate to redefine the RBC district to the Planned Development-3 district and 
change around the ordinance so that the current RBC regulations are located alongside the PD-1 and PD-
2 regulations.  And also as we discussed earlier, we need to clarify how open space is calculated for this 
district.  There's… as you saw there's been some confusion as to what can count towards district open 
space and what can't.  So, we're proposing a number of clarifications so that there would be no question 
in the future as what can count towards that.  And we're also proposing to further increase the percentage 
of retirement housing to 47 because, as with the Celebrate Now development, which consists of about 
1½% of the district acreage, the total land area dedicated for retirement housing with the proposed 
1,177-unit development would be around 46½% of the district.  We're also proposing to remove uses 
which we see as incompatible with residential uses, including some industrial and higher intensity 
commercial uses.  And we're proposing to remove uses that are listed unnecessarily; in particular, a lot 
of the residential uses that are listed in there are not really necessary, they're covered under more general 
terms.  And remove regulations which would no longer apply, and also to remove performance 
standards which are already regulated by other sections of the code.  And finally, we are proposing to 
require that any change for the preliminary concept plan be acted on by the Planning Commission; for 
example, with this proposed development you just heard, Celebrate Now, they had a minor change to the 
concept plan which wasn't required to be heard by the Planning Commission per the current regulations.  
However, with this proposed ordinance amendment, any of those changes would have to come before 
you for approval.  And finally, staff recommends authorizing a public hearing for this item.  The Board 
did grant an extension to the time limit for the PC to make recommendation to March 17th and the 
Planning Commission can modify the draft ordinance as they see fit.  I'll take any questions. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Any questions?   
 
Mr. Randall:  I have a couple questions. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, go ahead. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Can you go back to your proposed amendments?  Right there.  Where does the 35% open 
space… is that currently what we have for PD-3 or is that… are we generating that as a new open space 
percentage? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  PD-3 would be… that would be a created district so it doesn't currently exist.  It wouldn't 
be a modified district.  So it would be redefining the RBC to a PD-3.  PD-1 and PD-2 I believe require 
25% open space common areas, so that would be what we think of as going towards a 55% for RBC.  
HOA maintained common areas, recreational areas, and things of that nature; it wouldn't include on lot 
pervious areas in that calculation.   
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Mr. Randall:  Right, I gathered based on our conversation at the previous discussion that that wouldn't 
be… that they would need to follow the current subdivision open space requirement and they wouldn't 
be able to apply their RBC open space to a development.  So I figured that would be the change.   If we 
look at the 35% open space for their development, does that have any impact on the number of units that 
they're proposing? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Well, the… as far as it further restricting or allowing units? 
 
Mr. Randall:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  That and in itself wouldn't allow additional units.  There are other restrictions in place that 
restrict the units.  The principal one for retirement housing is that it's currently limited to 30% of the 
district land; as proposed it would be 47, which if they went through what the proposed development 
would build out all that area, so they wouldn't have the option of constructing more retirement housing 
developments without an additional ordinance amendment. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Right, they've already proffered those.  I guess my question is, if we take that 35% open 
and we make it 50%, for example, off… just 50%, would that mean that they instead of building 1,170 
houses they could only build 930, for example? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  It would most likely impact that, yes.  I believe that the true amount of open space with the 
proposed development would be around, actually around 45% not 35%.  So, they would still… we 
proposed it a little lower just because we felt like that was a more reasonable amount of open space for a 
development given that PD-1 and PD-2 only require 25%.  But we're certainly open to discussing that 
further and adjusting as you see fit. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  And Madam Chairman, Commissioner Randall, having an additional area that we could 
utilize for development still leaves the door open that there could be some non-residential uses within 
that remaining property.   
 
Mr. Randall:  Okay.  Well, I'm a proponent of as much open space as possible.  So, if we're looking at 
developing a requirement for a new district or for a new category, I'm… you know, if we're gonna go to 
47%, I hesitantly would be okay.  But I'm very much interested in as much open space as we think 
possible irregardless of what we see before us as far as what they've got already, you know.  If we look 
at this independently and say, what's the best for the County, you know, for open space, for recreational 
amenities, for just, you know, to keep that available… so. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yeah, in the way this has been approached so far is this district from the beginning has 
been sort of tailored to this particular development.  So, and there is a considerable amount of 
conservation areas within this particular district.  If the discussion is do we want to make this district 
perhaps more attractive for other areas of the County to go to, then that's a good point of discussion 
when talking about the open space.  If you're at 45%, then maybe that's not as attractive for some areas, 
because you typically don't have all those conservation areas and whatnot.  So, that's something we can 
definitely discuss further. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Well, I do think it's important that we flush out the open space as part of this application 
before we finalize any of these, if they're tied together like they are. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Just for clarification, the way it that it's going to be worded, does that eliminate the issue of 
counting yards on separate housing units? 
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Mr. Geouge:  Yes it does. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Okay, it’s strictly common area then. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  That's correct. 
 
Mr. Bain:  That’s good, that's good. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  It's referenced in two places, first in the table of uses; it specifically says what open space 
would apply towards individual lots and under the definition or the special regulations for open space it 
gets into details about what specifically can count towards the district open space requirement. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Very good. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  And it states specifically that it does not include individual residential lots. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Good, good, thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. McPherson? 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Yeah, I have a question for you Brian.  So, the amendments requested by the applicant, 
if you could put the… put that back on the screen please, you said that they wanted to add farm wineries 
and agri-tourism as permitted uses, but then under amendments recommended by staff to help them out 
you said, I'm trying to remember the exact wording, all… you would not permit any uses not… 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Compatible. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  … applicable to residential areas, so how does farm wineries… 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Computer please. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  … thank you… remove uses which are incompatible with residential uses.  So, I don't 
see how a farm winery and agri-tourism is compatible with residential uses, so that seems to me they 
kind of butt heads there. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yes, and if that is considered by the Planning Commission as a potential for this district, I 
would recommend perhaps looking at it as a use... as uses requiring a conditional use permit which 
would allow the Planning Commission to perhaps impose some restrictions on that type of use if it is 
desired. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Okay, thank you.  That I think would be an excellent idea.  Thanks Brian. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Just for my elucidation, what is agri-tourism?  I've seen this term numerous times and the 
only thing I can think of is something like the farms that do the corn maze and the pumpkin patch is… 
what else, I mean…? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Just interpretive elements relating to agricultural production. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Hay rides. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Yeah, hay rides, anything that… 
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Mr. Bain:  How much acreage… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Tractor pulls. 
 
Mr. Bain:  … how much acreage does agri-tourism require to be viable?  Do you have any thought? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  I have no idea; I couldn’t answer that. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  I’d say a good portion. 
 
Mr. Bain:  Yeah, I'm not sure we really need agri-tourism in this county but, okay, thank you.  And I live 
on a farm so. 
 
Mr. English:  Brian, I’ve got one question.  It says increasing… the applicant’s increasing allowed 
percentage in retirement housing from 30 to 45%.  If we just kept it at 30, what would that do to them if 
we just didn't change it? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  They couldn't build any more retirement housing. 
 
Mr. English:  That would be… what they’re proposing, that's it; they couldn't do any more or they would 
have to you less than what they're doing? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  No, they couldn't do the 1,177. 
 
Mr. English:  How many could they do? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  There's like .02% left before you hit 30% so it's virtually none, you know, maybe one or 
two. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yeah, especially with the one we just had in here. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Because the one we just did got us to 29.95%, so whatever the .05% you would get but 
maybe one house. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So my question is, how many parcels in the RBC district would this impact?  So, we just 
saw an unintended consequence of the RBC.  They were not part of it, like it was not part of the Silver 
Companies, the whole retirement housing, and they ended up walking away with a complete rezoning 
essentially, you know, 44 houses approved, no public hearings or anything.  So, how many other parcels 
are there that this change will now impact increasing the percentage of retirement?  Do they have more 
property they can then come back and get additional retirement housing approved on? 
 
Mr. Geouge:  They could always request that.  There are two or three parcels within the RBC that are 
still undeveloped.  So, this would more so impact those areas in terms of what they need to do to meet 
the open space requirements.  But, if they wanted additional retirement beyond the 1,177 they're 
proposing, they would have to come back again for another ordinance amendment to increase that 
further.  I don’t know if that answered your question or not.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Kind of.  I was just looking more for the undeveloped parcels that aren't owned by Silver, 
like the one that just came before us that ended up getting retirement housing.  So, how many of those 
are there that could essentially come in and apply and they'd be competing against Silver before that 
technically. 

Page 54 of 60 



Planning Commission Minutes 
December 19, 2018 
 
Mr. Geouge:  They… well, there's a couple parcels that I think are not owned by Silver.  Are you saying 
if they came in with a residential proposal and tried to… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mm-hmm, just like the one right now that was just here. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  … tried to get approval before the requested approval? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yeah. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Any changes we make are gonna apply to any future PD-3 no matter who owns it, 
ever.  It’s not just the Silver, it's everything moving forward. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  It’s all that land in the RBC.  So, Silver owns a lot of it but there other parcels just like the 
one that was just here for the 44 houses.  So how many more parcels does this technically impact 
because right now they're saying they got theirs because they were allowed to do up to 30% residential 
or retirement housing because the RBC allows up to 30%.  If we increase it to 47%, then other parcels 
should technically also be able to qualify. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Well, if you increase it to 47%, it would be part of the… it would be concurrent with the 
requested proffer amendment… 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Right. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  … which would approve this particular development.  And also, if you approve the 
ordinance amendments as proposed, any future change to the land-use pods, so if one of those 
undeveloped properties and that owner came in and wanted to do retirement housing, they would have to 
change their preliminary concept plan to do that and they would have to come before the Planning 
Commission (inaudible). 
 
Mr. Randall:  And we would have to increase the ordinance, right, we'd have to change the ordinance 
again because it would be higher than 47%. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  That's correct. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Right. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Randall:  So the 1,170 houses gets us to 45/46%.  So what we're saying is that in that whole area 
there's no more retirement houses unless we raise it again. 
 
Mr. Geouge:  Right. 
 
Mr. Randall:  So that's my point is that, you know… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  We just did the last one. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Yeah, we just did the last one.  You just did it to 29.98%; you're gonna make this change 
so we can put 1,170 houses in it and then there won't be any more.  There are no more retirement homes 
in that area unless they come back and we change the ordinance again.  And so, I guess to my point, I'm 
not ready to say whether I'm for or against it but I think to change an ordinance for the benefit of one 
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person and one person only I think sets a bad precedent, you know.  Maybe we say 1,170 is way too 
many.  Maybe we'll give you six hundred.  We're gonna raise it to 45 but now it allows other developers 
who want to come in and do the same to get to that 45% so I don't say well you get to 45 and the next 
person says well you did it for them why can't you do it for us.  And before you know it we're up to 55 
and 56 and 60% because everybody now wants retirement communities.  So if 47 is it and we're done 
with… and the 47 is where we’re ready to draw the line then we may have to say ok you get your 10%, 
somebody else gets another 10%, you don't get all 20.  And that's kind of my concern when we put these 
together and we mirrored them so that whatever we do seems to be for the advantage of one group and 
one group only.  So, we can talk about it later; this doesn't have to be voted on tonight I don't think. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So it sounds like we're not ready for primetime.  So do we want to keep discussing or do 
we want to table this?  Do we want to take a vote to defer?  What do we want to do?  Defer because it's 
almost 10 o'clock. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Yes, right, okay. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  So does somebody want to make a motion to defer this until January 9th? 
 
Mr. Randall:  Yes.  I'll make a motion… we're on number 7, correct? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Yeah, 6. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Six, I'm sorry.  I make a motion that we defer the proposed ordinance changes until our 
meeting on January 9th. 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Second. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Alright, so we've a motion by Commissioner Randall, second by Commissioner 
McPherson.  Any discussion Mr. Randall? 
 
Mr. Randall:  No, thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Mr. McPherson?   
 
Mr. McPherson:  No. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Anyone else?  Mr. Bain? 
 
Mr. Bain:  Just one question.  Deferring it to January 9th, does that give us enough time to have further 
discussions with staff or should we defer it a little bit longer? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Well… 
 
Mr. McPherson:  We can authorize for public hearing about February 13th, so we can open it for public 
hearing at that point, right? 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Exactly.  So we just need to get the ordinance so what we need to do over this break is 
seriously consider what you think is wrong with it, let's send an email to staff on what you want changed 
on it, and then let's… yeah, okay.   
 
Mr. Randall:  It’s a combined meeting on the last one in… 

Page 56 of 60 



Planning Commission Minutes 
December 19, 2018 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Potentially, we’ve got to vote on that later but, yeah, so it wouldn’t be until… 
 
Mr. Randall:  Right, but it’s potentially and that may be completely taken up… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Exactly, then it wouldn't be until February 13th that we would hear it again anyway.  So I 
think just getting it discussed one more time on the 9th and allowing Mr. Apicella to participate would be 
good. 
 
Mr. Randall:  Yes, I agree. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, so we got a motion, a second; any more discussion?  Let's go ahead and vote for 
deferral - or not deferral, whichever you want to work.  Okay, motion carries 6-0.  Moving on, item 
number 7, Proposed Ordinance O18-37 on Landscaping; Mr. Harvey.  Oh… well, yeah, we might as 
well start with that.  Okay do we have a motion to extend the meeting past 10 o'clock? 
 
Mr. McPherson:  Madam Chair, I move that we extend the meeting past 10 o’clock.  
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, Mr. McPherson; I think I heard a second by Mr. Boswell? 
 
Mr. Boswell:  I did not second that. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  No, you didn't second that?  Mr. Randall, is that you? 
 
Mr. Randall:  He does not want to go on record… 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Who said it? 
 
Mr. Randall:  I did.  He does not want to go on record (inaudible) past 10.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  He’s like I’m leaving in 2 minutes.  He’s going to vote against it.  Alright, so we have a 
motion by McPherson, a second by Commissioner Randall; any discussion?  Alright, let's vote.  Motion 
carries 6-0.  Okay, now Mr. Harvey. 
 
7. Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance  
 
Mr. Harvey:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.  Number 7 deals with proposed amendments to our 
landscaping manual.  As you may recall, the Commission asked the Board of Supervisors for additional 
time to make adjustments to the landscaping manual because the Board, when it referred the matter to 
the Commission, asked that concepts of xeriscaping and land conservation areas be incorporated into the 
manual document itself.  The Board last week did grant the extension.  The Planning Commission now 
has until March 31st to conduct a public hearing and make its recommendation.  Staff has also been 
contacted by a land development engineer who's working on a proposal within the County, and he had 
some comments about the proposed draft language and given that his concerns as well as the still trying 
to work through issues of xeriscaping and in natural preservation areas, staff would recommend the 
Commission consider re-establishing another committee to work out the fine-tuning of it because it may 
be an extensive discussion that maybe wouldn't be as productive at the dais as it may be with a 
committee.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  And we expect maybe just one… one subcommittee meeting so that this can come back to 
us in January so we can act on it by March, right? 
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Mr. Harvey:  That’d be my goal, yes. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay.  So, we don't need to do anything other than if we want to establish a 
subcommittee, right? 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Correct. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay.  So, Mr. English, I think you were already on the landscape subcommittee.  Does 
anybody else want to volunteer?  Maybe Mr. McPherson?  I know Ms. Shelton had a lot of comments, 
so…  Okay, you can be voluntold to be on this committee.  Okay, so we're appointing Commissioner 
English and Commissioner Macpherson to that and we look forward to your (inaudible) comments. 
 
Mr. English:  Jeff, staff will be with us when we’re ready to meet, right? 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Yes sir. 
 
Mr. English:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Right after the holidays, yeah.  Okay, nice, moving that one off the agenda.  We don't 
have to do anything.  Okay, now next on the agenda is the Planning Director's Report; Mr. Harvey. 
 
PLANNING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
10. Joint Public Hearing with Board of Supervisors, January 22, 2019 – Adopt a new Cluster 

Subdivision Area Map and change the effective date of Ordinance O18-02 regarding the 
minimum size of parking spaces 

 
Mr. Harvey:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.  You may have heard already that the Board of Supervisors 
has requested the Planning Commission's participation in a joint public hearing for January 22nd.  
There's two items that the Board thinks… warrant the need for a joint public hearing do time timeliness 
issues, one of which was referred to earlier in this evening dealing with an amendment that affected our 
parking lot standards.  In particular, our parking space sizes.  There's a number of economic 
development prospects that have been in review process that haven't gotten complete plan approvals 
which are now being affected by this ordinance change.  So, one of the joint public hearings would be to 
consider delaying the effective date or effectiveness of the ordinance for applications that were in 
process prior to Halloween of this year.  The second joint public hearing would be to reestablish a new 
cluster subdivision area map.  That would be a map in our Comprehensive Plan, as well as our Zoning 
Ordinance.  And at your seat here at the dais there's a copy of the map that the Board of Supervisors 
authorized for the hearing.  So, from a staff perspective, we would like to hear if the Commission 
concurs with participating in the joint hearing. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Do we need to take a vote on that?   
 
Mr. Harvey:  I don't believe so, just by acclamation. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  I think we're okay with it.  I think everybody anticipated doing a joint meeting on January 
22nd so I think we're good to go. 
 
11. 2019 Meeting Schedule 
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Mr. Harvey:  Great, thank you.  The next item on the list was looking ahead to next year's calendar for 
meetings.  This is for informational purposes.  The Commission will need to vote on this at your January 
9th meeting to set the official calendar.  But Ms. Stinnette’s put together a listing of what the potential 
dates would be, plus some of them potentially stricken through, following the normal protocol the 
Commission has as looked at.  Also, for January, the consideration is to have one regular meeting on the 
9th and then the regular meeting for 23rd would be cancelled because you'd have a joint hearing with the 
Board the night before.  Other considerations are potentially moving meeting dates in the month of May 
where they are coincide back-to-back with Board of Supervisors meetings.  And also in the summer 
months, usually in July and August, the Commission only has one meeting each month.  And similar for 
November and December.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Great.  If anybody has any comments on the calendar, let's send those to staff prior to.  Go 
ahead - next items. 
 
12. Downtown Stafford - Ongoing 
 
13. Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities Plan Update - Ongoing  
 
Mr. Harvey:  I had on here Downtown Stafford just to remind the Commission that you're going to be 
receiving more information in the future on this.  Staff’s continuing to work with our consultant to 
develop a generalized development plan for potential rezoning of county-owned to help jumpstart the 
Downtown Stafford development process.  With the Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities Plan, we’re 
receiving still some more feedback from the public and we hope to roll out a draft document to you next 
month.  I guess, in conclusion, Madam Chairman, for my report I want to thank the Commission for 
another great year.  I've really enjoyed working with this Commission and I appreciate all the great help 
from the Chairman, especially in the discussions of the agendas before the meetings get started.  I think 
that's really helped make the meetings run very smoothly and puts staff and the Commission in the best 
light possible.   
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you, Mr. Harvey. 
 
Mr. Harvey:  Thank you. 
 
COUNTY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  No, thank you. Ms. McClendon. 
 
Ms. McClendon:  Thank you Madam Chairman, I have no report at this time. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
14. Cluster Ordinance - Policy Subcommittee 

Meeting - December 18, 2018 @ 6:30 p.m., Activities Room 
 
Ms. Vanuch:   Alright, thank you Ms. McClendon.  Okay, Committee Reports; Cluster Ordinance Policy 
Subcommittee.  Mr. Randall, you're the chair of that committee. 
 
Mr. Randall:  I am.  You have in front of you our discussion from last night.  Commissioner Fillmore… 
McPherson, I’m sorry, was not able to be there.  He was a little under the weather.  And you'll see the 
talking points; we are fairly close to having something to be presented.  We're working on a quick 
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meeting in January to finalize the recreational definition for the ordinances.  But that's all I have to 
report. 
 
CHAIRMAN’S REPORT  
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Thank you, Mr. Randall.  Okay, moving on to the Chairman's Report. I know we want to 
leave.  I just really wanted to tell you, this is my last meeting as Chairman, so I really wanted to thank 
the Committee.  It's really been a pleasure working with each of you, and staff, you've been wonderful 
and making sure that we do all the right things when we need to and making sure we don't miss any 
deadlines for the Board of Supervisors.  So, I want to thank you.  And I know Connor is not here but I 
think tonight was his last meeting because I think it goes by semester, so he should be done in 
concluding his YES Program as well.  So I wanted to thank him for his work on the Planning 
Commission as well.  But it's really been an honor to work with you guys this year and thank you for 
entrusting me as your Chairman this year.  That concludes my report.  Other Business - TRC has been 
cancelled.  Next on the agenda we have approval of minutes for November 14th, and I'm abstaining from 
that because I was absent that meeting.  So, do we have a motion to approve minutes? 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
15. TRC Information - January 9, 2019 - Cancelled 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
November 14, 2018 
 
Mr. English:  So moved. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Okay, moved by Commissioner English and Commissioner Boswell.  Do we have any 
discussion?  Alright, go ahead and vote. 
 
Mr. English:  I did get called the Grinch tonight. 
 
Ms. Vanuch:  Alright motion carries five with one abstention (5-1-1; Mr. Apicella absent; Ms. Vanuch 
abstained), and meeting is adjourned. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 10:07 p.m. 
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When the RBC zoning district was created in 1999, was the construct primarily to 
promote economic development or residential housing?  At that time, how many 
residential units were proposed?  

• The intent was to create an office campus with supporting retail and recreational 
uses. The only permitted housing was 50 executive housing lots, with the 
potential for additional executive housing lots based on commercial development. 

 
When changes were made to this zoning district in 2003, did the county put in place 
measures to cap the number of residential units?  

• Yes, it was established that a maximum of 30% of the land area could be utilized 
for retirement housing. 

 
Under the county’s current zoning regulations/requirements, how many residential units 
can the applicant actually build at Celebrate Virginia North? 

• Executive Housing: 50 + 1 for every 10k sqft commercial/office 
Del Webb: 1,101 
Multifamily: 278 
Celebrate NOW (pending approval): 44 
Total: 1,473 

 
How many residential units have been completed and are underway thus far? 

• Around 1,080 completed 
350 underway 
44 pending approval (Celebrate NOW) 

 
How many can they still build (what’s left)? 

• 394 remaining (subject to Celebrate NOW approval) 
 
The proposed proffer amendment would add how many additional residential units to the 
total that they are currently allowed to build? 

• 1,177 
 
Besides the recently approved family apts (~280), can the applicant build any other non-
age-restricted housing at CVN? 

• They can build one additional executive housing lot for every 10,000 sqft of 
commercial development completed. 

• Additional multifamily would be allowed through approval of a conditional use 
permit only 

 
Without changes to the RBC zoning category and related county ordinances, can the 
applicant today max out their density to ~2,545 units as identified in their impact 
statement. 

• No they cannot. The ordinance limits the amount of district land that can be 
developed with multi-family and retirement housing units and this land is being 
built out with 1,473 units. 

 



Given the current ordinance restrictions (no more than 30% age-restricted housing), did 
the updated comp plan factor in an additional ~1200 residential units (and associated 
population increase) at CVN?  

• The Comp Plan did not estimate full buildout of every parcel within the Suburban 
designation, and specific zoning restrictions at the parcel level were not factored 
into the estimates. The Comp Plan estimated the projected overall amount of 
additional growth in the southern and northern Suburban land use areas. In the 
Southern area, the Comp Plan estimated 3,715 future dwelling units by 2036, of 
which a portion could be designated to this site. 

 
Did I read the proffers correctly to indicate that most or all of the 1,177 additional units 
could be duplexes?  

• That is possible since the number of duplexes is not restricted by proffers. 
 
What is the total amount of non-transportation cash contributions the county’s proffer 
guidelines recommend for a 1,177 unit age-restricted development?  And for 
transportation, what do the guidelines recommend in this instance? 

• Recommended non-transportation proffers total $19,815 per unit, and the 
guidelines recommend $6,903 per unit for transportation. 

 
What is the applicant proposing for non-transportation cash contributions for this project?  
And for Transportation, they are proposing what amount? 

• Excluding transportation, the applicant is proffering $1,609 per unit. $2,999 per 
unit is proposed for transportation 

 
What is the delta between what the county recommends and the applicant is proposing? 

• The difference between the guideline recommendations and the proposed 
monetary contributions is $22,110. 

 
[It might be helpful to have a single proffer comparison slide w/ this information]. 
 
From an economic comparison purpose, is it likely that 1,177 additional residential units 
will have a more of a cost impact to the county than the commercial or recreational 
enterprise(s) these units replace? 

• Residential uses typically have more of a cost impact on County services than 
commercial uses, however the land value under the proposed residential use 
would be considerably higher than the current land value in this area. The current 
land value is $21,780 per acre while the estimated assessed land value for age 
restricted housing is between $60,000-$80,000 per acre. 

 
Can you explain the back-and-forth in Attachment 1, Appendix B, Open Space 
Compliance Analysis?  Is it the applicant’s contention that the pervious area on each and 
every built lot (e.g., someone’s back/front/side yards) counts towards the minimum open 
space requirements (OSR)? 

• Yes the applicant contends that the 55% open space ratio for the overall district 
can include any on-lot pervious areas. Staff notes that open space ratio 



requirements typically apply to pervious areas on individual residential lots. 
Cluster subdivisions, and certain districts such as PD-1 and PD-2 require a certain 
percentage of open space outside of residential lots such as HOA common areas. 
Since the RBC district was originally proposed to have a significant amount of 
recreational uses such as golf courses in addition to the conservation easement 
areas on this site, it is staff’s position that the 55% district open space requirement 
applies to these recreational areas and other common areas, and pervious areas on 
individual residential lots should not count towards the requirement. The 
proposed ordinance amendments would clarify these requirements.  

 
For other county land uses, does the county allow homeowners’s yards to count toward 
the required OSR in those respective districts? 

• As noted, open space ratio typically applies to pervious areas on individual 
residential lots. The gross district open space requirement for the RBC district 
was viewed differently. 

 
At CVN, how much of this area/% (people’s/businesses yards) do they think contribute 
toward the RBC OSR? 

• Within the proposed development, around 36 acres of on-lot space. It is unclear 
how much of the other developed areas would count towards this. 



VILLAGES OF GREENBANK AT CELEBRATE VIRGINIA NORTH 
 
 
1. The applicant has indicated that there will be a deed restriction that would limit ownership 
of the housing units to people over the age of 55.  I would like to see the wording of this deed 
restriction.  If the proffer amendment is approved, is there any legal requirement that would force 
the applicant to follow through with incorporating this restriction on the deeds?  

• The applicant has proffered to include this restriction, and proffers are binding. We have 
sent this question to the applicant and will see what language they provide for this. We are 
checking with the County Attorney on the legal aspect. 

 
2. If the units are built but the sales are slow, could the applicant (or whoever then owns the 
units) decide to open up the sales market to anyone with money and a pulse?  

• No they could not. The proffers and ordinance require that the development be age-
restricted. Failure to operate the development as a retirement community as specified in the 
ordinance and proffers would result in zoning violations. 

 
3. What taxes have been paid on the affected parcels since the land was zoned RBC? (Please 
provide a yearly listing)  

• See attached. Note that the golf course parcel 44W-H was split from parcel 52-1 in 2009, 
which is why the 44W-H tax payments records start in 2009. Since 1999, $1,341,891 has 
been paid for these two parcels combined. 

 
4. What would the taxes have been if the land had been zoned for the proposed density?  

• There would be no change in taxes if the proposed residential density were allowed in this 
portion of the RBC district. Once the property starts to develop, the taxes would increase as 
lots are created and improvements are constructed. 

 
5. Will the applicant have to pay any of the tax differences indicated by the responses to 
questions 3 and 4?   

• No they will not have to pay the difference since the taxes would not have been different if 
the proposed residential density was allowed. Once a plat for the development is approved, 
5 years of rollback taxes will be due for the platted portion of the development because the 
property is in the land use tax program. 

 
6. It is my understanding that the maintenance of the trails, interpretive park, and stormwater 
management facilities associated with the proposed development will be the obligation of the Home 
Owners Association.  A recent article in the paper indicated that a HOA in Spotsylvania County has 
decided not to continue to maintain their stormwater management facility and they want the 
County to assume that responsibility.  Could that happen with this development (or any 
development in Stafford County, for that matter)? 

• No. Every stormwater management facility has an agreement in the land records that binds 
the owners in perpetuity to maintain the facility.  

 



7. Why is the applicant proposing such a high density development?  Couldn’t they also ask for 
a proffer change to allow single family homes on 3-acre lots?  The environmental impacts would be 
considerably reduced.  

• We will rely on the applicant for a response as to why the specific number of units is being 
proposed. 

 
8. Will membership in the proposed “Clubhouse Complex” be automatic for homeowners in the 
development?  Will there be an additional annual fee to cover the cost of operation and 
maintenance?  Will the fee be a requirement, or an option for the home owners?  What happens to 
the “Clubhouse” if membership fees do not cover O&M costs? 

• We will rely on the applicant for a response. 
 
9. The construction of the “Interpretive Park” is linked to construction of Village B. If the 
economy changes and Village B is delayed (or never built), will the “Interpretive Park” ever be 
built?  The developer should be required to complete it within a specified time frame.  

• Noted. Will check with the applicant for a response. 
 
10. In the “Interpretive Park” an exhibit shelter is proposed.  Will this be an open-air structure 
or a closed building?  What security will there be to protect the exhibits?  Who will maintain the 
exhibits and repair any damage that might occur?  

• The HOA would be responsible for all maintenance/repairs. Will check with the applicant for 
additional information. 

 
11. Same question regarding maintenance and security for the “Civil War Park” proposed in the 
development.  

• Exhibits at the Civil War park would most likely be limited to interpretive signs. The HOA 
would be responsible for all maintenance/repairs. 

 
12. The applicant indicates that the “Owner” will reserve the right to establish days and hours 
during which the “Interpretive Park” will be open to the public.  I would like to know this 
information before voting on the application and would like it to be included in the Proffer.  

• Will check with the applicant for a response. 
 
13. The applicant indicated that the “Owner” reserves the right to restrict or charge for use of 
the event field.  How will these limits and rates be established?  Will the County have any say in 
setting or controlling these items? Will there be any restrictions to prevent situations similar to the 
Charlottesville-type demonstrations? 

• The County would not control the use of the events field; however a permit would be 
required through the County if a music or entertainment festival were held at the park. 
Through the permit process, details on the event would be provided such as information for 
promoters, performing groups, layout plans, sanitation plan, distribution of food & drinks, 
medical services, parking, fire protection, traffic control, and lighting.  Will check with the 
applicant for additional response. 

 
14. The applicant proposed to establish a “Park Advisory Committee” to develop plans for the 
“Interpretive Park” and “Civil War Park”.  Will the County have a seat on this committee?  Will there 



be any certified historical experts on the committee?  What real power will the committee have 
regarding development decisions and funding? 

• Checking with the applicant for a response. 
 
15. The applicant proposes to construct a round-about at the Celebrate Virginia Parkway and 
Banks Ford Parkway intersection.  I assume VA DOT has signed off on this proposal, but wonder if a 
signalized intersection wouldn’t be a better solution.  

• A signalized intersection was discussed but VDOT preferred the roundabout based on the 
traffic volumes. 

 
16. The applicant has indicated that the real estate market value of the proposed development is 
$432 million.  How much money are they allocating for development of the “interpretive Park” and 
“Civil War Park”? 

• The estimated cost of the 66-acre Greenbank Farm Park is approximately $1.4 million, and 
the Civil War park is approximately $75,000 to $100,000. 
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